
 1 

 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

MEETING AGENDA 

WEDNESDAY, JANUARY 13, 2016 

Closed Session Meeting – 6:15 PM 

Regular Meeting - 6:30 PM 

 
City Hall – Beryl P. Robinson, Jr. Conference Room 

317 Broad Street, Nevada City, CA  95959 
 

 

MISSION STATEMENT  

The City of Nevada City is dedicated to preserving and enhancing its small town  

character and historical architecture while providing quality public services for our 

 current and future residents, businesses and visitors. 

 

 

 Jennifer Ray, Mayor 

Robert Bergman, Council Member   Evans Phelps, Vice Mayor 

Terri Andersen, Council Member   Duane Strawser, Council Member 
 

The City Council welcomes you to its meetings which are scheduled at 6:30 PM on the 2nd and 4th Wednesdays of 

each month.  Your interest is encouraged and appreciated.  This meeting is recorded on DVD and is televised on 

local public television Channel 17.  Other special accommodations may be requested to the City Clerk 72 hours in 

advance of the meeting.  Please turn off all cell phones or similar devices.  Action may be taken on any agenda item.  

Agenda notices are available at City Hall.  Materials related to an item on this Agenda submitted to the Council after 

distribution of the agenda packet are available for public inspection in the City Hall at 317 Broad Street, Nevada 

City, CA during normal business hours. 

 
ANY MEMBER OF THE PUBLIC DESIRING TO ADDRESS THE COUNCIL ON ANY ITEM ON THIS 

AGENDA: After receiving recognition from the Mayor, give your name and address, and then your comments or 

questions. Please direct your remarks to the Councilmembers. In order that all interested parties have an opportunity 

to speak, please limit your comments to the specific item under discussion. All citizens will be afforded an 

opportunity to speak, consistent with their Constitutional rights. Time limits shall be at the Mayor's discretion. IF 

YOU CHALLENGE the Council's decision on any matter in court, you will be limited to raising only those issues 

you or someone else raised at the meeting or Public Hearing described on this agenda, or in written correspondence 

delivered to the City Council at, or prior to, the meeting or Public Hearing.   

 

 

CLOSED SESSION – 6:15 PM  

 

Pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9, the Consulting City Attorney is requesting a 

closed session conference to discuss and confer on a Settlement Authority Request regarding the 

pending Worker’s Compensation claim of James Fowler against the City, Claim No. NCWA 

556102. 

 

REGULAR MEETING – 6:30 PM - Call to Order 

 

Roll Call:  Andersen, Bergman, Strawser, Vice Mayor Phelps, & Mayor Ray 

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 

 
 



 2 

PROCLAMATION:    
 

PRESENTATION:    

 

BUSINESS FROM THE FLOOR 

 

1. PUBLIC COMMENT 

 

Under Government Code Section 54954.3, members of the public are entitled to address 

the City Council concerning any item within the Nevada City Council’s subject matter 

jurisdiction. Comments on items NOT ON THE AGENDA are welcome at this time.  

Normally, public comments are limited to no more than three minutes each.  Except for 

certain specific exceptions, the City Council is prohibited from discussing or taking 

action on any item not appearing on the posted agenda. 

 

2. COUNCIL MEMBERS REQUESTED ITEMS AND COMMITTEE REPORTS: 

 

3. CONSENT ITEMS: 

 

All matters listed under the Consent Calendar are to be considered routine by the City Council 

and will be enacted by one motion in the form listed.  There will be no separate discussion of 

these items unless, before the City Council votes on the motion to adopt, members of the 

Council, City staff or the public request specific items to be removed from the Consent Calendar 

for separate discussion and action. 

 

A. Subject:  Fire Activity Report – September thru December 2015 

Recommendation:  Receive and file. 

 

B. Subject:  Accounts Payable Report – November 2015 

Recommendation:  Receive and file. 

 

C. Subject: Notice of Completion – East Broad Street Sidewalk Project 

Recommendation: Receive and file. 

 

D. Subject:  Calling General Municipal Election on June 7, 2016 

Recommendation: Pass Resolution 2016-XX requesting the County of Nevada 

consolidate the regularly scheduled municipal election on June 7, 2016. 

 

E. Subject:  Standard Agreement Between the City of Nevada City and Caltrans 

Recommendation:  Review and authorize the City Manager to sign an agreement for 

$25,000 through 12/15/17 between the City of Nevada City and Caltrans for brine 

solution. 

 

F. Subject:  Notice of Completion for 2015 Measure “S” Paving Improvements 

Recommendation:  Pass Resolution 2016-XX approving a Notice of Completion for 

the construction of 2015 Measure S paving and reconstruction and authorize Mayor to 

sign. 

 



 3 

      4.  APPROVAL OF ACTION MINUTES: 

 

A. City Council Meeting – December 9, 2015 

 

5. DEPARTMENT REQUESTED ACTION ITEMS AND UPDATE REPORTS: 

 

A. Subject: Nevada City Police Department Reserve Program Guidelines 

Recommendation:  Approve the proposed Nevada City Police Department Reserve 

Program Guidelines. 

 

B. Subject: Swimming Pool Rehabilitation Project Grant Application 

Recommendation: Pass a Motion approving Resolution 2016-XX authorizing the 

City to submit a grant application for Land and Water Conservation Fund Swimming 

Pool Rehabilitation Project. 

 

C. Subject: 1st Quarter Financial Update, Fiscal Year (fy) 15/16 

Recommendation:  Receive and file. 

 

6. PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

 

A. Subject:  An Ordinance of the City Council of Nevada City, California, Adding 

Chapter 17.140 to the Nevada City Municipal Code Entitled, “Marijuana 

Regulations;” and Resolution Approving a Notice of Exemption (Ordinance Adding 

Chapter 17.140 entitled “Marijuana Regulations”) 

Recommendation:  Hold a public hearing and first reading of the proposed 

ordinance; consider a Resolution Approving a Notice of Exemption for the ordinance. 

 

B. Subject:  Transaction and Use Tax Options and Election Timing 

Recommendation:  Hold a public hearing on both the proposed General Tax 

ordinance and the proposed Special Tax ordinance and either 1) hold a first reading of 

the General Tax ordinance or the Special Tax ordinance to preserve the ability to 

adopt in time for the June 7, 2016 election; or 2) provide alternate direction to the 

City Manager. 

 

7. OLD BUSINESS: 

 

A. Subject:  Placement of Council-Requested Items on City Council Agendas 

Recommendation: Provide direction to the City Manager. 

 

8. NEW BUSINESS: 

 

9. CORRESPONDENCE: 

 

10. ANNOUNCEMENTS: 

 

11. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT: 

 

12. ADJOURNMENT 



 4 

Certification of Posting of Agenda 

I, Corey Shaver, Administrative Supervisor for the City of Nevada City, declare that the foregoing agenda for the 

January 13, 2016 Regular Meeting of the Nevada City City Council was posted January 8, 2016 at the office of the 

City of Nevada City (City Hall). The agenda is also posted on the City’s website www.nevadacityca.gov. 

 

Signed this January 8, 2016 at Nevada City, California 

 

 

__________________________________, Corey Shaver, Administrative Supervisor 

 

 

 

 

 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

CITY OF NEVADA CITY 

City Council 

Long Range Calendar 

 

 

January 18, 2016  Martin Luther King Day Holiday – City Hall Closed 

January 27, 2016  Regular City Council Meeting 

February 10, 2016 Regular City Council Meeting 

February 15, 2016 Presidents’ Day Holiday – City Hall Closed 

February 24, 2016  Regular City Council Meeting 

March 9, 2016  Regular City Council Meeting 

March 23, 2016  Regular City Council Meeting 

March 31, 2016  Cesar Chavez Day Holiday – City Hall Closed 

 

 

 

 

NOTE:  This list is for planning purposes; items may shift depending on timing and capacity of a meeting. 

 

NOTICE:  As presiding officer, the Mayor has the authority to preserve order at all City Council meetings, to 

remove or cause the removal of any person from any such meeting for disorderly conduct, or for making personal, 

impertinent, or slanderous remarks, using profanity, or becoming boisterous, threatening or personally abusive 

while addressing said Council and to enforce the rules of the Council. 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL    City of Nevada City 

         317 Broad Street 
         Nevada City, CA  95959 

January 13, 2016      www.nevadacityca.gov 

 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

TITLE:  Notice of Completion for the East Broad Street Reconstruction 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Pass Resolution 2016-XX approving a Notice of Completion for 

the East Broad Street Reconstruction and authorize Mayor to sign. 

CONTACT:  William J. Falconi, Consulting City Engineer 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:  On October 7, 2015 the Council awarded to Central 
Valley Engineering & Asphalt, Inc., Roseville, CA, the contract for the East Broad Street 
Reconstruction. This project was a complete reconstruction of East Broad Street from 
Main Street to the traffic light on Highway 49 which included a new sidewalk.  Staff is 
recommending the City Council pass a resolution approving a Notice of Completion for 
the project. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  The project was funded by CMAQ funds with a 10% matching from 
Measure S funds. 
 
ATTACHMENT:  
 

 Resolution 2016-XX Notice of Completion and Authorize Mayor to Sign 
 Notice of Completion & Exhibit A 

42



 1 

 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2016-XX 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO SIGN A NOTICE OF COMPLETION 

 
 
IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Nevada City that the 
Mayor is authorized to sign a “Notice of Completion”, a copy of which is attached hereto 
and labeled “Exhibit A” which completes the reconstruction of the East Broad Street 
from Main Street to the Highway 49 traffic light in Nevada City, CA 95959. 
 
IT IS FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Clerk is authorized to file said “Notice of 
Completion” with the Nevada County Recorder’s Office. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular scheduled meeting of the City Council held on 
this 13th day of January, 2016 by the following vote: 
 
AYES:  
 
NOES:  
 
ABSENT:  
 
ABSTAIN:  
        
 
       ____________________________ 
       Jennifer Ray, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk 

43



44



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL    City of Nevada City 

         317 Broad Street 
         Nevada City, CA  95959 

January 13, 2016      www.nevadacityca.gov 

 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

TITLE:  Calling General Municipal Election on June 7, 2016 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Pass Resolution 2016-XX Calling General Municipal Election 

CONTACT:  Mark Prestwich, City Manager 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:  An election will be held within the City of Nevada City 
on Tuesday, June 7, 2016 for the purpose of electing three (3) members to the City 
Council and a City Clerk. The City requests the governing body of the County of 
Nevada, as prescribed by Election Code Section 10402 and 10403 to consolidate the 
regularly scheduled municipal election with any other elections to be held on July 7th, 
2016. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  The City agrees to reimburse the County of Nevada for the City’s 
prorated share of the costs of the election which is approximately $2,500. 
 
ATTACHMENT:  
 

 Resolution 2016-XX Calling General Municipal Election 

45



RESOLUTION 2016-XX 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
CALLING GENERAL MUNICIPAL ELECTION ON JUNE 7, 2016 

 
 

WHEREAS, an election will be held within the City of Nevada City on 
Tuesday, June 7, 2016 for the purpose of electing three (3) members to the City 
Council and a City Clerk; and 
 
 WHEREAS, whenever two or more elections are called to be held on the 
same day, in the same territory or in part of the same territory, such elections 
should be consolidated. 
 
 BE IT RESOLVED, that the City of Nevada City requests the governing 
body of the County of Nevada, as prescribed by Elections Code Section 10402 
and 10403 to consolidate the regularly scheduled municipal election with any 
other elections to be held on June 7th, 2016; and 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the candidate is to pay for the publication 
of the candidate’s statement, pursuant to Election’s Code Section 10509.  The 
limitation on the number of words that a candidate may use in his/her 
Candidate’s Statement is 200 words; and 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the City of Nevada City agrees to 
reimburse the County of Nevada for the City’s prorated share of the costs of the 
election. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regularly scheduled meeting of the Nevada 
City City Council on the 13th day of January, 2016 by the following vote. 
 
AYES: 
 
NOES: 
 
ABSTAIN: 
 
ABSENT: 
 
       __________________________ 
       Jennifer Ray, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk 

46



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL    City of Nevada City 
         317 Broad Street 
         Nevada City, CA  95959 
January 13, 2016      www.nevadacityca.gov 
 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE: Standard Agreement Between the City of Nevada City and Caltrans 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Review and authorize the City Manager to sign an agreement 
for $25,000 through 12/15/17 between the City of Nevada City and Caltrans for brine 
solution. 
   
CONTACT:  Catrina Olson, Assistant City Manager 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:  
During severe snow and icy weather it becomes necessary for the City streets to be de-
iced.  Currently the Department of Public Works (DPW) uses a combination of sand and 
salt pellets (applied manually) to mitigate these hazardous road conditions.  During 
continuous weather sand and salt must be reapplied daily.  This becomes extremely 
time consuming and expensive because a 50lb salt pellet bag costs $8 and only covers 
approximately two intersections.    
 
The City purchased a de-icing machine last fiscal year to more efficiently address 
hazardous winter street conditions.  The new machine requires a brine solution and 
during continuous icy conditions requires reapplication once every 3-4 days.  The 
Department of Public works is seeking to engage the services of Caltrans to provide the 
brine.  The City will work with Caltrans to provide the water necessary to prepare the 
solution. 
    
FISCAL IMPACT: 
Using the brine solution, which will cost approximately $5,000 annually, will generate a 
savings in operational materials and supplies and allow for efficiencies in labor to DPW 
for winter street maintenance.  The exact amount will vary depending on the weather 
severity each winter. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 
 Standard Agreement between City of Nevada City and Caltrans 

47

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


48



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL    City of Nevada City 

         317 Broad Street 
         Nevada City, CA  95959 

January 13, 2016      www.nevadacityca.gov 

 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

TITLE:  Notice of Completion for 2015 Measure “S” Paving Improvements 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Pass Resolution 2016-XX approving a Notice of Completion for 

the construction of 2015 Measure “S” paving and reconstruction and authorize Mayor to 

sign. 

CONTACT:  William J. Falconi, Consulting City Engineer 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:  On August 26, 2015 the Council awarded Central 
Valley Engineering & Asphalt, Inc., Roseville, CA, the contract for the 2015 Measure “S” 
Paving of Various Streets: Woodpecker Lane, a portion of Gold Flat Road, Prospect 
Street, Prospect Court, Clay Street, Adams Street, a portion of Nile Street, a portion of 
Park Avenue, Drummond Street and Winter Street. Staff is recommending the City 
Council pass a resolution approving a Notice of Completion for the project. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  All paving work was funded by Measure “S” funds tax over-ride until 
2023. 
 
ATTACHMENT:  
 

 Resolution 2016-XX Notice of Completion and Authorize Mayor to Sign 
 Notice of Completion & Exhibit A 

49



 1 

 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2016-XX 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO SIGN A NOTICE OF COMPLETION 

 
 
IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Nevada City that the 
Mayor is authorized to sign a “Notice of Completion”, a copy of which is attached hereto 
and labeled “Exhibit A” which completes the construction of Measure S paving and 
reconstruction of Woodpecker Lane, Gold Flat Road (portion), Prospect Street, 
Prospect Court, Clay Street, Adams Street, Nile Street (portion), Park Avenue (portion), 
Drummond Street, and Winter Street in Nevada City, CA 95959. 
 
IT IS FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Clerk is authorized to file said “Notice of 
Completion” with the Nevada County Recorder’s Office. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular scheduled meeting of the City Council held on 
this 13th day of January, 2016 by the following vote: 
 
AYES:  
 
NOES:  
 
ABSENT:  
 
ABSTAIN:  
        
 
       ____________________________ 
       Jennifer Ray, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk 

50



51



 

 

 

 1 

 
CITY OF NEVADA CITY 

ACTION MINUTES 
REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF DECEMBER 9, 2015 

 

 
NOTE:  This meeting is available to view on the City’s website www.nevadacityca.gov – Go to 
Quick Links and Click on Agendas & Minutes and find the Archived Videos in the middle of the 
screen.  Select the meeting date and Click on Video to watch the meeting.  For website assistance, 
please contact Corey Shaver, Deputy City Clerk at (530) 265-2496, ext 133. 
 
-  City Council Meetings are available on DVD.  To order, contact City Hall - cost is $15.00 per DVD.   
- Closed Session Meetings are not recorded. 
 

 
 
 
REGULAR MEETING – 6:30 PM - Call to Order 
 
Roll Call:  Andersen, Bergman, Strawser, Vice Mayor Phelps, & Mayor Ray 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
 PROCLAMATION:   Nevada County Food & Toy Run Day – December 12, 2015 
 
PRESENTATION:   None 
 
1.  BUSINESS FROM THE FLOOR-PUBLIC COMMENT (Per Government Code Section 54954.3) 
 
Please refer to the meeting video on the City’s website at www.nevdacityca.gov. 
 
2.  COUNCIL MEMBERS REQUESTED ITEMS AND COMMITTEE REPORTS: 

 
Please refer to the meeting video on the City’s website at www.nevadacityca.gov. 

 
3.  CONSENT ITEMS: 
 

A. Subject: Purchase of New Radar Speed Displays 
        Recommendation: Approve the sole-source purchase of three All Traffic Solutions radar speed 

displays in an amount not to exceed $10,686.90. 
 
Action:  Motion by Strawser, seconded by Phelps to approve the sole-source purchase of three All Traffic 
Solutions radar speed displays in an amount not to exceed $10,686.90. 
(Approved 5 – 0) 
 

B. Subject: Employment Contract for a Part-Time Engineer 
        Recommendation: Review and authorize the City Manager to sign the employment agreement 

for a part-time City Engineer. 
 
Action: Motion by Phelps, seconded by Strawser to authorize the City Manager to sign the employment 
agreement for a part-time City Engineer. 
(Approved 5 – 0) 
 
 
 
 

52

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/
http://www.nevdacityca.gov/
http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


 

 

 

 2 

4.  APPROVAL OF ACTION MINUTES: 
 

A. City Council Meeting – November 18, 2015 
 
Action:  Motion by Phelps, seconded by Strawser to approve the November 18, 2015 minutes as 
presented. 
(Approved 5 – 0) 
 
5.  DEPARTMENT REQUESTED ACTION ITEMS AND UPDATE REPORTS: 

 
A. Subject: Update on Pioneer Park Projects (Oral Report) 

 
Received and Filed 
 

B. Subject:  Pioneer Park Project Priority List Update 
 
Action:  Motion by Strawser, seconded by Andersen to approve the updated Project List for Pioneer Park 
as presented. 
(Approved 5 – 0) 

 
C. Subject:  Update of Policy for Placement of Items in City Parks and Open Space 

 
Action:  Motion by Phelps, seconded by Strawser to approving the update to Policy for Placement of 
Items in City Parks and Open Space with change in reference to Park & Recreation Committee 
(Approved 5 – 0) 
 
6.  PUBLIC HEARINGS:  None 
 
7.  OLD BUSINESS: 
 

A.  Subject: A Resolution of the City Council of the City of Nevada City Amending the General 
Plan to Provide for Hosted Short-Term Rentals in Nevada City Residential Zones 

 
Action:  Motion by Phelps, seconded by Bergman adopt Resolution 2015-52 to Amending the General 
Plan to Provide for Hosted Short-Term rentals in Nevada City Residential Zones. 
(Approved 3 – 2, AYES Phelps, Strawser, Bergman, NOES Ray, Andersen) 
 
 

B.  Subject:  An Ordinance of the City of Nevada City adding a New Section 17.72.080 to 
Chapter 17.72 of the Zoning Regulations in Title 17 of the Nevada City Municipal Code allowing 
Hosted Short-Term Rentals in Nevada City Residential Zones. 

 
Action:  Motion by Strawser, seconded by Phelps to adopt Ordinance 2015-12 Adding a New Section 
17.72.080 to Chapter 17.72 of the Zoning Regulations in Title 17 of the Nevada City Municipal Code 
Allowing Hosted Short-Term Rentals in Nevada City Residential Zones. 
(Approved 3 – 2, AYES Phelps, Strawser, Bergman, NOES Ray, Andersen) 
 

C.  Subject:  Review of Commercial Street Boardwalk  
 
This item was continued to a future meeting. 
 

D.  Subject: Transaction and Use Tax Options and Election Timing 
 
This item was continued to a future meeting. 
 
8.  NEW BUSINESS: 
 

53



 

 

 

 3 

A. Subject:  Presentation of Petition Signature Verification Certificate on Initiative Measure to 
Enact Zoning Ordinance and General Plan Amendments to Permit and Restrict Home-
Sharing Short-Term Rentals of Rooms in Single-Family Residences or Guest Houses by 
Owner Occupying Main Dwelling and Council Action Thereon   

 
Action:  Motion by Andersen, seconded by Strawser to submit to voters at next election. 
(Approved 5 – 0) 
 

B.  Subject:  Placement of Council-Requested Items on City Council Agendas 
 
This item was continued to a future meeting. 
 
9.   CORRESPONDENCE: 

 
10.  ANNOUNCEMENTS: 
 
- Sewer Rate Methodology - January/February 2016 
- Victorian Christmas 
  
11.  CITY MANAGER’S REPORT: 

 
12.  ADJOURNMENT 

 
Meeting adjourned at 10:27 pm 
 
 
        _______________________________ 
        Jennifer Ray, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk 

54



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL    City of Nevada City 

         317 Broad Street 
         Nevada City, CA  95959 

January 13, 2016          

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

TITLE:  Nevada City Police Department Reserve Program Guidelines 

RECOMMENDATION:  Approve the proposed Nevada City Police Department 

Reserve Program Guidelines. 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION: The Nevada City Police Department (NCPD) 

Reserve Unit provides a valuable and indispensable service to the City of Nevada City.  
The Reserve Officers are a vital and integral part of the mission of Nevada City Police 
Department. The special perspective, enthusiasm and dedication each reserve officer 
brings enhances the NCPD, maintaining and extending its high level of service and 
professionalism. 

A Reserve Police Officer is a P.O.S.T. (Police Officer Standards and Training) - certified 
peace officer who has chosen to serve the community and gain training in the law 
enforcement field.  A Reserve Officer can do everything a regular Officer can do, and 
has full police powers while on duty and in uniform.  Some Nevada City Police 
Department reserves have accepted full-time career positions in law enforcement, while 
others enjoy working part-time.  Many of our full-time officers have started as Reserve 
Officers with the Nevada City Police Department. 

The NCPD accepts Level I and II Reserve Officers who have previously been certified 
by a P.O.S.T. accredited institution within the last three years. 

 

Level I:   Reserve Officers, the highest level that is approved by P.O.S.T., may 

be certified to work alone or with another Reserve Officer. He/she must 
successful pass a P.O.S.T. 400-hour Field Training Program prior to 
becoming certified as a Level I Reserve and being released to work 
alone.  This is the same field training program as newly hired full-time 
officers must complete. Level I Reserve Officers can supervise other 
Reserve Officers. 

Level II:  Reserve Officers cannot work alone and must work with a full-time 

Officer or a Level I Reserve Officer. 

Level III:  May serve as a non-law enforcement volunteer police intern. They 

cannot work alone and will be assigned mostly to special events. 

Trainee:  A Level ll Reserve Officer who is being sponsored by the City of 

Nevada City to complete P.O.S.T. Academy training. 

55



To provide clarity regarding program expectations and compensation, City staff has 
developed and is recommending the City Council approve the attached Nevada City 
Police Department Reserve Program Guidelines. 

The Guidelines provide specific job duties for each level of Reserve Officer and the 
application and qualification process. Further, the Guidelines address equipment, 
uniforms and compensation for Reserve Officers. The Guidelines also permit the City to 
provide Police Academy sponsorship for Level II Reserve Officers. Academy 
participants would be compensated at a Trainee salary, which is 10% below the bottom 
step of a full-time Officer’s hourly rate. 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS:   None. 

 
FISCAL IMPACT:  No additional cost to Department as all Police Reserves must be 

funded within City Council authorized budget resources. 
 
ATTACHMENT:  Nevada City Reserve Officer Program Guidelines 

 
  

56



(PROPOSED) 

NEVADA CITY RESERVE OFFICER PROGRAM GUIDELINES 

 

RESERVE OFFICER DUTIES 

Level I and II Reserve Officers perform general law enforcement duties, which include 
street patrol, conducting preliminary police investigations, report writing, collision 
investigations, traffic control, issuance of citations, and other basic law enforcement 
functions.  Reserve Officers are also utilized at special events such as parades, or 
street fairs. Level I and II Reserve Officers perform most of the same duties as a full-
time officer. Level III: May serve as a non-law enforcement volunteer police intern. They 
cannot work alone and will be assigned mostly to special events. 

Reserve Officers are expected to work during maximum deployment 
events/assignments such as, Victorian Christmas, major disasters, or other significant 
events. Reserve Officers may be required to work extended 12-hour shifts.  A Reserve 
Officer can volunteer to work more than the minimum twenty hours a month, if they 
choose. 

 

APPLICATION / QUALIFICATION PROCESS 

The minimum qualifications: 

 Be at least 21 years of age at the time of appointment; 
 Not have any felony or serious misdemeanor convictions that would prohibit you 

from possessing a firearm; 
 Be a United States citizen or have applied for U.S. citizenship; 
 Possess a High School diploma or GED equivalency; 
 Possess a California driver's license 
 Possess the required P.O.S.T. training certificate (either Basic Police Academy, 

Reserve Officer Level I, Level II, or Level III) or completion within two months of 
the application 

 Complete and submit the P.O.S.T. personal history packet 
 Successfully pass an Oral Interview with NCPD Command Staff. 

 
Prior to appointment: Applicants undergo an extensive background examination, the 

same as are conducted for full-time salaried police officers.  Applicants must 
successfully pass all portions of the screening process. The process includes; 
 

 P.O.S.T. Peace Officer Background Investigation 
 Psychological screening 
 Medical examination 
 Applicants may undergo a polygraph or a computerized voice stress analysis 

(CVSA) examination.  
 

After appointment: Level I Reserve Officers must successfully pass a P.O.S.T. 400-
hour Field Training Program. Upon completion, Level I Reserves must serve an average 
monthly minimum of 20 hours per month to maintain their qualification.  Scheduling of 

57



hours will be based on Department need.  There is no other requirement for a Reserve 
Officer to work a minimum number of hours each month. 

 

Academy Sponsorship:  Level II Reserve Officers who wish to fill an open full-time 
Police Officer position within the Nevada City Police Department may request to be 
sponsored by the Department in order to complete their Module 1 Academy training.  To 
be considered, Level II Reserves must have worked at least 6 months for the NCPD, 
successfully completed 6 weeks of the P.O.S.T. 400-hour Field Training Program and 
have the unanimous recommendation of the NCPD Command Staff.  Upon approval of 
the City Manager, the Department will cover the Module I tuition, books and needed 
supplies, and a fuel stipend of up to $100 per month. While in the Academy, the Level II 
Reserve will be compensated at the Trainee salary rate only for the actual hours spent 
in the Academy classroom (travel time to/from classroom is excluded). 

Equipment: The Department will initially provide all necessary uniform and safety 
equipment which will include;  

Soft body armor and personal protective equipment (one) 
Uniform Shirts (1 long sleeve, 1 short sleeve) 
Uniform Pants (one pair) 
Uniform “4 in 1” Duty Jacket 
Uniform Pants Belt 
Uniform baseball cap (one) 
Nylon duty belt and accessories  
Duty weapon, holster and mag pouch 
One snow suit 

Department provided uniform and safety equipment will be retained by the Department 
should the Reserve terminate employment. 

Uniform/Equipment Replacement:  Reserve Officers do not have a uniform allowance.  
Reserve Officers in need of uniform/equipment replacement shall make a written 
request through the chain of command explaining the reason the uniform/equipment 
needs to be replaced.  The shift Sergeant shall inspect the uniform/equipment item and 
determine if the request is warranted.  The request shall then be forwarded to the Police 
Chief for final resolution and/or approval. 

Compensation:  Reserve Officers will be compensated on an hourly basis as follows: 

Level I: Bottom step of a full-time Officer’s hourly rate 

Level II: 5% below the bottom step of a full-time Officer’s hourly rate 

Level III: No compensation; Will serve as a volunteer Police Intern 

Trainee:  10% below the bottom step of a full-time Officer’s hourly rate while 
attending an Academy sponsored by the Department 

58



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL    City of Nevada City 

         317 Broad Street 
         Nevada City, CA  95959 

January 13, 2016      www.nevadacityca.gov 
 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

TITLE: Swimming Pool Rehabilitation Project Grant Application 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Pass a Motion approving Resolution 2016-XX authorizing the 
City to submit a grant application for Land and Water Conservation Fund Swimming 
Pool Rehabilitation Project. 
 
CONTACT:  Dawn Zydonis, Parks & Recreation Supervisor 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION: The Nevada City swimming pool was last renovated 
in the 1980’s. The shell of the swimming pool is constructed of concrete slabs.  The 
swimming pool has cracks that are causing the pool to leak and the shell of the pool is 
beginning to crumble and deteriorate to such a degree general maintenance procedures 
for getting the pool up and running each spring are no longer effective. 
 
In January 2015, an engineer from Neil O. Anderson and Associates (NOA) made a site 
visit and provided a report with observations, opinions and recommendations for repair.  
This report is attached and staff want to make repairs to the swimming pool based on 
their recommendations.  The City also contracted with NOA to provide the engineering 
specs needed to re-construct the shell of the swimming pool. The estimated cost to 
rehabilitate the swimming pool, based on NOA’s evaluations and additional 
conversations is estimated to be $247,000. 
 
Staff have researched possible funding options for this project and recommend the City 
apply for a federal Land Water Conservation Fund (LWCF) grant.  The LWCF is a grant 
provided by the National Park Service and administered by the California Parks & 
Recreation Department.  The LWCF, if awarded, can fund up to 50% of the project 
costs.   
 
On February 14, 1963, President Kennedy’s Administration proposed legislation to 
establish a “Land and Water Conservation Fund” to assist States in planning, 
acquisition, and development of recreation lands.  With bipartisan support, President 
Johnson signed it into law on September 3, 1964.  Outer Continental Shelf mineral 
receipts, sales of federal surplus real property, federal recreation fees, and federal 
motorboat fuel taxes all serve as funding sources for the LWCF.   
 
If this project is funded, the land within the Pioneer Park boundaries will be placed 
under federal protection to preserve the public’s outdoor recreational use of the site in 
perpetuity. 
 

59

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


The other 50% of the project will be funded through a loan.  The City will create an inter-
fund borrowing between the General Fund and the Wastewater Fund.  An inter-fund 
loan agreement will be established outlining the terms and conditions including market 
interest and loan amortization schedule due from the General Fund to the Wastewater 
Fund.  The Wastewater Fund has an approximate $3 million fund balance and has 
adequate funding to support a loan to the General Fund while maintaining the capacity 
to fund necessary and emergency projects that arise throughout the duration of the 
loan. If the City is not awarded funding through LWCF, the entire project would need to 
be funded by the loan. 
 
Staff is recommending work begin when the swimming pool season ends in 2016 on 
Monday, September 5, so the entire project can be completed before weather 
conditions change.  While the grant may not be awarded and finalized by this time, the 
grant permits the City to request a Waiver of Retroactivity.  If that is approved and the 
grant is awarded, any funds spent prior to the grant agreement being signed may be 
reimbursed, including the original assessment report and engineering work completed 
by NOA. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS:  The grant application requires that California 
Environmental Quality Act requirements are met including an Environmental Screening 
Form. Staff anticipates that the pool rehabilitation project will be categorically exempt 
from environmental review pursuant to Section 15301(d) of the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA).  Exemption applies to activities which consist of the operation, 
repair, maintenance, or minor alteration of existing private or public structures or 
facilities involving negligible or no expansion of use. Specifically, this exemption applies 
to the restoration or rehabilitation of deteriorated or damaged structures or facilities to 
meet current standards of public health and safety. The proposed pool improvements 
will not result in an expansion of use and will allow continued use of the pool facility in a 
manner that complies with public health and safety regulations. The City will comply 
with all state and federal regulations at the time of project commencement. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: The estimated cost of the Swimming Pool Rehabilitation Project is 
estimated to be $247,000. The LWCF grant would pay for up to 50% of project costs if 
awarded. The City’s Wastewater Fund has an approximate $2.3 million fund balance 
and capacity to support a loan to the General Fund for a portion of or the entire 
rehabilitation project. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

 Report from Neil O. Anderson and Associates dated January 23, 2015 
 Resolution 2016-XX  

 

60



 

Lodi  •  Sacramento  •  Concord 

Phone: 925.609.7224 •  Fax: 925.609.6324  •  www.noanderson.com 

5075 Commercial Circle, Suite E, Concord, CA  94520 

 

 
 
January 23, 2015 
 
 
City of Nevada City – Parks and Recreation 
Attn: Dawn Zydonis 
317 Broad Street 
Nevada City, CA 95959 
 
Subject: Engineering Site Visit 
  Nevada City Community Swimming Pool 
  423 Nimrod Street 
  Nevada City, California 95959 
  NOA Project No. ND145131E 
   
Dear Mrs. Zydonis, 
 
Per your request, the undersigned engineer visited the subject site on Thursday, January 8, 2015.  
The purpose of our visit was to observe the state of the swimming pool at the subject property 
and provide our opinion regarding its condition.  This letter presents our observations, opinions, 
and recommendations. 
 
Description 
 
The Nevada City Community Swimming Pool was originally constructed in 1939 and consists of a 
cast-in-place concrete shell.  The pool is 50 by 125 feet in size and varies in depth from 2.0 to 
8.5 feet.  Concrete decking a minimum 12 feet wide surrounds the pool.  The pool shell surface 
is finished with pool paint.   
 
The pool was renovated in the mid-1980s.  Plans for the renovation were prepared by Falconi & 
Associates (Dated June 14, 1982) and were provided to our office for review and reference.  
Based on the Falconi & Associates plans, the renovation consisted of removing a half-circle shaped 
wading pool located off the shallow end of the main pool, adding a stainless steel perimeter 
gutter, and increasing the elevation of the pool to accommodate the addition of the perimeter 
gutter to the original bond beam. As part of the renovation, a new floor was constructed in order 
to maintain the desired pool depths due to the elevating of the bond beam. Plans indicate the 
original floor was broken up and left in place and 1-1/2 inch gravel was placed and compacted 
over the original floor up to the depth of the new pool floor.  The new floor construction consisted 
of a 6 inch thick slab reinforced with #4 bars spaced at 12 inches on center each direction.  Six 
expansion joints were installed in the new floor slab and around the perimeter of the slab along 
the wall line. 
 
 

61

http://www.noanderson.com/


Nevada City Community Swimming Pool 
January 23, 2015 
NOA Project No. ND145131E 

Page 2 of 5 

 

 

 

 

 
©2015 Neil O. Anderson & Associates,  

A Terracon company 

 

Per Dawn Zydonis, Nevada City Parks & Recreation Supervisor, and Verne Taylor, Nevada City 
Public Works Director, the swimming pool is drained following completion of the swim season and 
left empty throughout the winter months due to maintenance concerns.  We understand that 
each spring the Public Works department pressure washes and repaints the surface of the pool 
shell.  The pool is then refilled prior to the start of the next swim season.  Verne Taylor indicated 
that cracking is observed every spring when the shell is pressure washed and that the cracking 
gets worse every year.  In addition, leaking has been reported through the floor expansion joints 
and spalling of the concrete shell has been observed at various locations around the pool. 
 
Observations and Opinions  
 
At the time of our visit, the pool was empty and 
the pool shell was covered with a thin layer of ice 
some debris from surrounding trees.  The pool 
paint was beginning to fade in some locations and 
in need of repainting.  We understand the caulking 
and waterproofing at the expansion joints in the 
shell have required repeated routine repair due to 
leaking.  At the time of our visit the expansion 
joints appeared to be distressed and needing 
repair again. 
 
Cracking was observed at various locations throughout the walls and floor of the shell.  The 
cracking meandered and did not have any distinct patterns.  No large structural stress cracks 
were observed at the time of our visit.  Evidence of surface spalling of the concrete was observed 
at various locations around the pool.  Additional cracking and spalling is likely present in the pool 
shell that was not visible at the time of our visit due to the pool paint.   
 
Based on our observations, the operating procedures for the pool, and the known history of the 
pool, we believe most of the distress in the pool shell (cracking, spalling, etc.) is due to the 
repeated draining of the pool over the winter months.  The average low temperature for Nevada 
City, California is reported to be 32°F.  It is not uncommon to have extended periods of freezing 
temperatures over the winter months.  As a result, the pool shell has been repeatedly exposed 
to freezing and thawing conditions over the life of the structure.  Repeated freezing and thawing 
can cause internal cracking of the concrete.  When water freezes it expands in volume.  In 
concrete this can cause cracking of the cement paste and a reduction in concrete stiffness and 
strength.  The degradation of the concrete can increase over time with the continual formation 
of additional cracks. 
 
As indicated, six expansion joints were incorporated into the construction of the pool floor and an 
expansion joint is present along the perimeter of the floor along the wall line.  Expansion joints 
are no longer designed into pool shells because it has been determined that they are not needed 
as long as water is kept in the pool and usually end up being a maintenance nightmare, as you 
have likely experienced.     
 

62



Nevada City Community Swimming Pool 
January 23, 2015 
NOA Project No. ND145131E 

Page 3 of 5 

 

 

 

 

 
©2015 Neil O. Anderson & Associates,  

A Terracon company 

 

Recommendations 
 
We understand that it is not feasible financially to replace the aging pool shell at this time. 
However, we believe the life of the existing pool shell can be extended provided the following 
rehabilitation measure are taken. 
 

 Operating procedures:     We recommended the City’s pool operation procedures be  
revised to maintain the pool full of water all year long.  By 
maintaining the pool full of water, potential damage due to 
effects of freeze-thaw will be reduced and the life of the 
concrete will be prolonged.   

 Pool plaster:   With the pool being maintained full of water all year long,  
we recommend the pool paint be removed and the pool be 
plastered.  Pool plaster has a lifespan of 10 to 20 years 
depending on the use of the pool and how well the water 
chemistry of the pool is maintained.  Plaster having a longer 
lifespan than the annual sand blasting and repainting of the 
pool will result in a significant long term cost savings for the 
City. 

 Repair of pool shell:  We recommend removing and reconstructing areas where  
cracking in the shell is extensive and portions of the pool 
shell with significant degradation.  Cracking not considered 
extensive could be repaired by epoxy injection.  Epoxy 
injection is a structural repair that extends the full depth of 
the crack.  Upon removal of the pool paint and prior to 
applying a plaster finish to the shell, we recommend a 
representative from our office observe the pool shell to 
assess the full extent of cracking and determine which areas 
of the shell should be replaced and which cracks could be 
repaired by epoxy injection. 

 Expansion joint removal: We recommend the six (6) expansion joints in the pool floor  
be removed and that a cove be constructed between the 
pool floor and walls along the perimeter expansion joint.  
Provided the pool is maintained full of water, the shell will 
not experience the effects of shrinkage from drying out and 
expansion joints will not be needed.  Removal of the 
expansion joints will result in reduced maintenance of the 
pool shell and a reduction in operating costs due to loss of 
water. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

63



Nevada City Community Swimming Pool 
January 23, 2015 
NOA Project No. ND145131E 

Page 4 of 5 

 

 

 

 

 
©2015 Neil O. Anderson & Associates,  

A Terracon company 

 

Estimate of Probable Costs 
 
The following are an estimate of probable costs for the recommended rehabilitation measures 
that we have recommended.  The costs are an estimate to be used for planning and actual costs 
may vary. 
 
Item:         Cost:                
Demolition:        $25,000 
 -cut out expansion joints, 1,200 square feet 
 -notch wall and floor for new cove, 350 lineal feet 
 -removal of 350 square feet of pool shell 
Shotcrete:        $28,000 
 -epoxy dowels, reinforcement (no bonding) 
 -350 square feet of pool shell, 8 inches thick 
 -wall to floor cove 
 -4,000 psi mix design 
Concrete:        $31,000 
 -epoxy dowels, reinforcement (no bonding) 
 -1,200 square feet of floor, 8 inches thick 
 -4,000 psi mix design 
Plaster:        $82,000 
Additional Services:       $18,000 
 -brushing, chemical balance, water fill                                         
Epoxy Injection       $25,000  
Estimate probable construction cost total:   $209,000 
 
Design/Engineering:       $5,500 
 -project plans 
 -shotcrete, concrete, plaster written specifications 
Special Inspections:       $6,500 
 -concrete, shotcrete, reinforcement       
Estimate probable professional cost total:   $12,000 
 
 
Our firm is qualified to provide the design/engineering, special inspection, and epoxy 
injection services. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

64



Nevada City Community Swimming Pool 
January 23, 2015 
NOA Project No. ND145131E 

Page 5 of 5 

 

 

 

 

 
©2015 Neil O. Anderson & Associates,  

A Terracon company 

 

We believe these opinions, recommendations, and estimate of probable costs were provided with 
that level of skill and care ordinarily used by engineers practicing in this area at this time.  
Statements of professional opinion do not constitute a guarantee or warranty, expressed or 
implied.  If we may be of further service, please call. 
 
Sincerely, 
NEIL O. ANDERSON & ASSOCIATES, A TERRACON COMPANY 
 
 
 
Noah T. Smith, Senior Associate 
Registered Geotechnical Engineer 2758 
 

65



 

RESOLUTION NO. 2016-XX 

 

 RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY APPROVING THE 
APPLICATION FOR LAND AND WATER CONSERVATION FUND  

SWIMMING POOL REHABILITATION PROJECT 

 
WHEREAS, the Congress under Public Law 88-578 has authorized the establishment of a federal 

Land and Water Conservation Fund Grant-In-Aid program, providing Matching funds to the State of 
California and its political subdivisions for acquiring lands and developing Facilities for public outdoor 
recreation purposes; and 

 

WHEREAS, the California Department of Parks and Recreation is responsible for administration of 
the program in the State, setting up necessary rules and procedures governing APPLICATIONS by local 
agencies under the program; and 

 

WHEREAS, the APPLICANT certifies by resolution the approval of the APPLICATION and the availability of 
eligible MATCHING funds prior to submission of the APPLICATION to the State; and 

 
WHEREAS, Staff anticipates that the pool rehabilitation project will be categorically exempt from 

environmental review pursuant to Section 15301(d) of the California Environmental Quality Act 
(CEQA).  Exemption applies to activities which consist of the operation, repair, maintenance, or minor 
alteration of existing private or public structures or facilities involving negligible or no expansion of use. 
Specifically, this exemption applies to the restoration or rehabilitation of deteriorated or damaged structures or 
facilities to meet current standards of public health and safety. The proposed pool improvements will not 
result in an expansion of use and will allow continued use of the pool facility in a manner that complies with 
public health and safety regulations. The City will comply with all state and federal regulations at the time of 
project commencement. 

          

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED that the City of Nevada City hereby: 

1. Approves the filing of an APPLICATION for Land and Water Conservation Fund assistance for the 
proposed; Swimming Pool Rehabilitation 

 

2. Agrees to abide by SECTION 6(F)(3) of Public Law 88-578 which states “No property acquired or 
developed with assistance under this section shall, without the approval of the National Secretary of the 
Interior, be converted to other than public outdoor recreation uses. The Secretary shall approve such 
conversion only if he finds it to 
be in accord with the then existing comprehensive statewide outdoor recreation plan and only upon 
such conditions as he deems necessary to assure the substitution of other recreation properties of at 
least equal fair market value and of reasonably equivalent usefulness and location.” 

 

3. Certifies that said agency has MATCHING funds from eligible source(s) and can finance 100 
percent of the Project, which up to half may be reimbursed; and 

 

4. Appoints the City Manager as agent of the APPLICANT to conduct all negotiations and execute and 
submit all documents, including, but not limited to, APPLICATIONS, CONTRACTS, amendments, payment 
requests, and compliance with all applicable current state and federal laws which may be necessary 
for the completion of the aforementioned PROJECT. 

 

  

66



 

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular scheduled meeting of the City Council held on this 13th day of 
January, 2016 by the following vote: 

 
AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSENT: 
ABSTAIN: 
 
       ___________________________ 
       Jennifer Ray, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
__________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk 

67



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL    City of Nevada City 
         317 Broad Street 
         Nevada City, CA  95959 
January 13, 2016      www.nevadacityca.gov 
 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE:    1st Quarter Financial Update, Fiscal Year (fy) 15/16 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Receive and file.  

CONTACT:  Catrina Olson, Assistant City Manager 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:  
 
As of September 30, 2016, the City had $517k in the General Checking, $1.03 million in 
the Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) yielding .32%, and $1.5 million in Certificates 
of Deposit (CD’s) with an average portfolio maturity of 2.7 years and an average yield of 
1.1%.  The cumulative cash total for the City was $3.12 million vs. $4.26 million 
September 30, 2014.  The reduced cash flow is significantly tied to the project work that 
the City has been conducting associated to grants and is timing related as the City 
submits for reimbursements. 
 
The City’s General Fund long term debt was $14.6k as of September 30, 2015 vs. 
$464k September 30, 2014.  The substantial reduction in debt is associated to the 
payoff of the transfer of funds for fy 14/15 to Nevada County, and not obtaining a loan 
against Nevada City property taxes for fy 15/16/ 
 
The City’s Enterprise Fund long term debt was $4.3 million as of September 30, 2015 
vs. $4.4 million as of September 30, 2014, $162k lower, associated to regular principal 
reduction payments. 
 
As of September 30, 2015, General Fund revenues were $556k vs. $512k September 
30, 2014, an increase of $44k, year over year (yoy) associated with increases in sales 
tax, transient occupancy tax, and business licenses. The increase in business licenses 
is related to timing in year-end audit journal entries.  General Fund revenues received at 
$556k were 16% (not quite 25% associated to timing in receipt of property taxes) of the 
$3.4 million budget.    
     
As of September 30, 2015, the General Fund expenditures were at $1.04 million vs. 
$942k September 30, 2014, an increase of $94k yoy.  General Administration 
expenditures at $221k were 24% of the $915k operational budget. The Fire Department 

68



expenditures at $172k were 33% of the $516k operational budget and is associated to 
the additional staffing hired for the station.  These increased costs will be offset with the 
use of $100k in Measure “L” funds that have been allocated to support the additional 
personnel costs until such time the City secures sustainable funding through a ballot 
measure to pay for the 3 additional personnel required to fully staff Station 54.  The 
Police Department expenditures at $412k were 25% of the $1.66 million budget. The 
Department of Public Works expenditures at $109k were 27% of the $409k operational 
budget.  The Parks and Recreation Department expenditures at $101k were 37% of the 
$273k budget.  The Park and Recreation Department’s budget overage as of the end of 
the 1st quarter for fy 15/16 was tied to the seasonality of the expenditures for the pool 
and pool programs.  The Veteran’s Building expenditures at $12k were 24% of the $49k 
budget.  Typically at the completion of the 1st quarter departmental expenditures should 
be approximately 25% of budget.  Overall operational expenditures at $1.04 million 
were 28% of the $3.73 million budget. 
 
The General Fund had expenditures exceeding revenues of $480k as of September 30, 
2015, significantly higher than fy 14/15 because the City chose not to do a borrowing 
against property taxes from Nevada County and greater expenditures.  The City has a 
positive unassigned fund balance of $347k ending fy 14/15 and has maintained a 
continued improving economic financial position over the last four fiscal years. It 
continues to be crucial that City staff monitor incoming revenues and prioritize and 
review program expenditures to support preserving and improving the current financial 
status. 
 
As of September 30, 2015, Special Fund revenues were $396k and were 11% of the 
$3.55 million budget.  The City’s two special tax measures have performing on budget 
The City has received $149k in Measure “S” sales tax revenues and were 27% of the 
$558k budget, and $111k in Measure “L” sales tax revenues and were 27% of $419k 
budget.  Most Special Fund revenues are tied to the timing of expenditures by the City 
and reimbursement based.     
  
As of September 30, 2015, the Special Fund expenditures including capital outlay were 
$455k and were 6% of the overall $3.8 million budget.  Special Fund expenditures are 
all timing related.   
 
As of September 30, 2015, the Water Fund revenues were $162k vs. $188k September 
30, 2014.  The decrease in Water Fund revenues of $26.8k was associated to 
community water conservation efforts during the ongoing drought conditions.  Water 
Fund revenues received at $62k were 19% of the $835k budget. 
 

69



As of September 30, 2015 the Water Fund expenditures were at $178k vs. $161k 
September 30, 2014.  The increase of $17k in Water Fund expenditures was associated 
primarily to an increase in water distribution operational materials and supplies and 
outside services for necessary repairs.  The Water Department and Water Distribution 
fund with expenditures of $178k were 28% of the $637k operational budget.  
 
The Water Fund had expenditures exceeding revenues of $17k as of September 30, 
2015.  The Water Fund has experienced an improved financial position, yet experienced 
some erosion ending fy 14/15 at $(168k).  With continued conservation efforts, the City 
will continue to experience a slowing in Water Fund revenues, and with the increase in 
expenditures for necessary repairs it is critical that City Staff explore efficiencies in 
operations and reductions in expenditures to maintain the improving financial position of 
the Water Fund. 
 
As of September 30, 2015, the Wastewater Fund revenues were $188k vs. $242k 
September 30, 2014.  The decrease in Wastewater Fund revenues of $55k was 
associated to the Wastewater rate structure change to 40% fixed and 60% flow based 
on January/February water usage and a decrease in program income that the City 
receives from Robinson Enterprises for leachate hauling. Wastewater Fund revenues 
received at $188k were 14% of the $1.3 million budget. 
 
As of September 30, 2015, the Wastewater Fund expenditures were at $466k vs. $367k 
September 30, 2014.  The increase of $99k in Wastewater Fund expenditures was 
associated to capital outlay of $72k for the Wastewater Treatment Plant and 
Wastewater collection system and increased costs for testing.  The Wastewater 
Department and Wastewater Distribution fund (excluding capital outlay) with 
expenditures of $367k were 32% of the $1.04 million operational budget.  
 
The Wastewater Fund had expenditures exceeding revenues of $279k as of September 
30, 2015.  The Wastewater Fund continues to maintain a positive fund position with an 
unrestricted balance of $2.3 million ending fy 14/15. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
 Fund Financial Status Report 
 Statement of Condition 
 Revenue and Expenditure Report (General Fund, Special Funds, Water Fund & 

Sewer Fund) 
 Major Revenue Graphs 

   
 

70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL    City of Nevada City 
         317 Broad Street 
         Nevada City, CA 95959 

January 13, 2016      www.nevadacityca.gov 

 

 

TITLE: An Ordinance of the City Council of Nevada City, California, Adding 

Chapter 17.140 to the Nevada City Municipal Code Entitled, “Marijuana 

Regulations;” and Resolution Approving a Notice of Exemption (Ordinance 

Adding Chapter 17.140 entitled “Marijuana Regulations”)    

RECOMMENDATION:  Hold a public hearing and first reading of the proposed 

ordinance; consider a Resolution Approving a Notice of Exemption for the ordinance. 

CONTACT:  Crystal Hodgson, Deputy City Attorney, Associate Attorney with Jones & 

Mayer, cvh@jones-mayer.com; (916) 771-0635. 

BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:  

At the City Council’s November 18, 2015 meeting, the City Attorney’s office explained 

the recently enacted Medical Marijuana Regulation and Safety Act (the “MMRSA”) and 

the provision of the MMRSA that requires the City to adopt an ordinance regulating 

marijuana cultivation to be effective by March 1, 2016, in order to preserve the City’s 

authority to regulate marijuana cultivation within its jurisdiction.   

At that meeting, the City Council directed the Planning Commission to review and 

recommend approval of an ordinance that would add Chapter 17.140 to the Nevada 

City Municipal Code containing marijuana cultivation regulations.    The draft ordinance 

prohibited all outdoor marijuana cultivation and permitted qualified patients and primary 

caregivers to cultivate 25 square feet or less of marijuana indoors in single family 

residential dwelling lots, after receiving a marijuana cultivation permit from the City 

Police Chief.  The draft ordinance also contained regulations including the following 

requirements: 

 Indoor cultivation may only occur in single family residences within residential 

zones; 

 Indoor cultivation is prohibited in homes where minors reside;  

 Indoor cultivation must occur only on uncarpeted areas, with proper lighting, 

shielded from public view from a public right-of-way;  

 Structures used for indoor marijuana cultivation must have proper ventilation to 

prevent mold damage and plant odors or particles from becoming a public 

nuisance; 

86

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/
mailto:cvh@jones-mayer.com


 Indoor marijuana cultivation may exceed twenty-five (25) square feet in a grower 

can demonstrate medical necessity to the Police Chief 

 Marijuana may not be cultivation within 600 feet of a school.   

 Violations of the ordinance would constitute a public nuisance, a criminal 

infraction, or other civil action as allowed by law.   

Planning Commission Recommendations 

On December 10, 2015, the Planning Commission held a public hearing and considered 

the draft ordinance along with a Resolution Recommending Approval of a Notice of 

Exemption for the ordinance.  The Planning Commission voted 4-1 to approve 

Resolution No. 2015-55 Recommending Approval of the Ordinance Adding Chapter 

17.140 to the Nevada City Municipal Code entitled, “Marijuana Regulations” but directed 

staff to make the following changes to the ordinance: 

 Add language to Section 17.140.040 (B)(2) clarifying that a primary caregiver 

may cultivate marijuana in his/her own residence for the use of the qualified 

patient they care for; 

 Add language to Section 17.140.040 (C)(1) where appropriate to clarify whether 

single family dwelling units included mobile homes;  

 Remove the requirement that marijuana cultivation may not occur in a residence 

whether persons under 18 years of age reside; 

 Remove the requirement that marijuana cultivation could not occur on any 

carpeted area;  

 To add language to Section 17.140.040 (C)(6) requiring that lighting used in 

indoor cultivation shall not shine outside the residence to annoy neighbors; and 

 To clarify how the 600 foot distance requirement contained in Section 

17.140.040(C)(17) would be measured from schools, childcare centers, or City 

parks. 

Staff has made the Planning Commission’s recommended changes along with other 

modifications including: 

(1) a provision was added to Section 17.140.040 (C)(13) to explicitly prohibit the use, 

storage or discharge of hazardous chemicals in marijuana cultivation;  

(2)  the term “person with an identification card” was added alongside references to a 

“qualified patient” to clarify the City’s intent that all patients with recommendations from 

a physician to use medical marijuana, including those that had obtained an identification 

87



card from the County under the Medical Marijuana Program Act, are authorized by the 

City’s ordinance to grow marijuana subject to its other requirements; and 

(3) the enforcement provisions that criminalized marijuana cultivation under the 

ordinance were removed, because a California Court of Appeal decision issued on 

December 1, 2015, in Kirby v. County of Fresno, held that cities and counties were 

permitted to ban or regulate cultivation but were preempted by the state’s marijuana 

laws including the Medical Marijuana Program Act, from criminalizing cultivation of 

marijuana.       

The Planning Commission also approved a Resolution No. 2015-54 Recommending 

Approval of a Resolution Approving a Notice of Exemption for the ordinance.   

Discussion Item 

The proposed ordinance submitted for your review will amend the Zoning Title of the 

Nevada City Municipal Code, to add Chapter 17.140 entitled “Marijuana Regulations.”  

Therefore the City Council must hold a public hearing; a public hearing notice was duly 

published. 

The ordinance requires a first and second reading; this is the first reading for your 

consideration.   

As mentioned above, the City is authorized under state law to regulate the cultivation of 

marijuana within the City, as long as the City has some regulations of cultivation in 

place by March 1, 2016.  City staff has drafted the proposed Ordinance, based on the 

direction of the City Council and the Planning Commission, which will allow some limited 

indoor cultivation of marijuana by qualified patients, persons with identification cards, 

and their primary caregivers.  The ordinance aims to strike a balance between the 

allowing ease of access for qualified patients and persons with identification cards to 

marijuana for medical purposes and the needs of the community to reduce negative 

secondary effects of marijuana cultivation such as increased risk of crime, unauthorized 

access of minors, and nuisance odors, glare, etc.   

If the proposed ordinance is approved, it will require the creation of a marijuana 

cultivation permit process and approval of a fee to cover the costs of administering the 

permit process.   

Staff also recommends your approval of the attached Resolution Approving a Notice of 

Exemption for the ordinance.   

ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS:  

Staff recommends that City Council approval of a Resolution Approving a Notice of 

Exemption finding that the adoption of the Ordinance is exempt from the requirements 

of the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”) pursuant to Title 14, Chapter 3, 

California Code of Regulations (CEQA Guidelines), Section 15061(b)(3).  The proposed 

88



Ordinance will ban outdoor cultivation of marijuana and allow a very limited amount of 

marijuana to be grown indoors.  There is no possibility that the adoption of the 

Ordinance will have a significant effect on the environment, because the Ordinance 

permits only a small number of marijuana plants to be grown indoors, similar in size to 

the amount of houseplants of non-marijuana varieties that may already exist in normal 

households, with similar electric, water, and fertilizer usage.  The Ordinance also 

contains provisions preventing the use or discharge of any hazardous substance into 

the City’s sewer or waste water treatment facilities, prohibiting nuisance odors, and 

glare from lights assuring these types of environmental impacts will not be maintained in 

the cultivation of marijuana allowed by the Ordinance.   

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS:   

The proposed Ordinance will establish a permit system for those permitted to cultivate 

marijuana under the Ordinance, whereby permittees will be required to pay a fee to 

cover administrative costs of the Ordinance.  The fee will help offset the staff time and 

expenses in issuing permits, inspecting premises, enforcing the Ordinance against 

those not in compliance, and other costs of administering the Ordinance.   

ATTACHMENTS: 

Exhibit A – Planning Commission Resolution Recommending Approval of a Notice of 

Exemption (Ordinance Adding Chapter 17.140 entitled “Marijuana Regulations”) 

Exhibit B- Planning Commission Resolution Recommending Approval of an Ordinance 

Adding Chapter 17.140 to the Nevada City Municipal Code Entitled “Marijuana 

Regulations.”  

Exhibit C – Draft Resolution No. 2015-XX Approving of a Notice of Exemption 

(Ordinance Adding Chapter 17.140 to the Nevada City Municipal Code entitled 

“Marijuana Regulations”). 

Exhibit D – Draft Ordinance No. XX of the City Council of Nevada City, California, 

Adding Chapter 17.140 to the Nevada City Municipal Code Entitled “Marijuana 

Regulations.” 

 

 

89



 
RESOLUTION NO. 2015-XX                     

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE 

CITY OF NEVADA CITY, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, 
RECOMMENDING APPROVAL OF A NOTICE OF 

EXEMPTION  
(Ordinance Adding Chapter 17.140 entitled “Marijuana 

Regulations”) 
   

WHEREAS, City planning and legal staff have reviewed the Ordinance Amending the Nevada 
City Municipal Code to add Chapter 17.140 entitled “Marijuana Regulations” (“Project”) and 
determined that it is exempt from review under the California Environmental Quality Act pursuant to 
Title 14, Chapter 3, California Code of Regulations, Section 15061 (b)(3) – Activity is not subject to 
CEQA because there is no possibility the project will have a significant effect on the environment; and 
 

WHEREAS, a Notice of Exemption has been prepared for the Project. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Planning Commission of the City of Nevada City 

as follows: 
 
Section 1. Based on the review and determination of the Planning Department, the Planning 

Commission of the City of Nevada City finds that the Project is exempt from review under the 
California Environmental Quality Act. 
 

Section 2. A Notice of Exemption is recommended for approval for the Project. 
 
Section 3. Upon approval of the Project by the City Council, the City Clerk may file the Notice 

of Exemption with the County Clerk of Nevada County and, if the Project requires a discretionary 
approval from any state agency, with the State Office of Planning and Research, pursuant to the 
provisions of Section 21152(b) of the Public Resources Code and the State EIR Guidelines adopted 
pursuant thereto. 

 
PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED by the Planning Commission of the City of Nevada 

City at a public meeting held on the 10th of December, 2015. 
 
 
       _______________________________________ 
       ____________________,CHAIRMAN 
ATTEST:   
 
 
By:  __________________________________      
        Secretary 

90



 
NOTICE OF EXEMPTION 

   
 
 
TO:  Office of Planning and Research  FROM:  City of Nevada City 
  1400 Tenth Street       317 Broad Street 
  Sacramento, CA 95814      Nevada City, CA 95959 
 

 Nevada County Clerk/Recorder’s Office 
Environmental Filings 
Eric W. Rood Administrative Center 
950 Maidu Avenue, Nevada City CA 95959 

 
 
Project Title:  Ordinance Amending Nevada City Municipal Code to Add Chapter 17.140 entitled 
“Marijuana Regulations” 
 
Project Address:  317 Broad Street, Nevada City, California 95959 
 
Project Location – City: City of Nevada City 
Project Location – County: Nevada 
 
Project Description:  The ordinance amends the Nevada City Municipal Code to add Chapter 17.140 
containing marijuana cultivation regulations.  Chapter 17.140 prohibits outdoor marijuana cultivation, 
and permits limited indoor cultivation by qualified patients and primary caregivers.   
 
Name of Public Agency Approving Project: City of Nevada City 
 
Name of Person or Agency Carrying Out Project:  City of Nevada City 
 
Exempt Status:  (Check One) 
  Ministerial (Section 21080(b)(1); 15268); 
  Declared Emergency (Section 21080(b)(3); 15269(a)); 
  Emergency Project (Section 21080(b)(4); 15269(b)(c)); 
     X  “Common Sense” Exception (Section 15061(b)(3)) 
__   Categorical Exemption.  Type and section number:   
  Statutory Exemptions. State code number:  
 
Reasons why project is exempt: The project is an ordinance that amends the Nevada City Municipal 
Code to add Chapter 17.140 entitled “Marijuana Regulations.”  Chapter 17.140 prohibits all outdoor 
cultivation within the City, and allows qualified patient and primary caregivers to cultivate a limited 
amount of marijuana plants indoors, subject to the other requirements contained in the Chapter.  The 
ordinance allows such a small amount of indoor marijuana to be grown by a select few qualifying 
individuals, and energy, water, and fertilizer/pesticide usage will be substantially similar to existing 
typical household non-marijuana indoor plant grows, so that there will be an overall negligible impact to 
the environment.  Therefore, the project is exempt from CEQA as there is no possibility that the project 
will have a significant impact on the environment (Title 14, Chapter 3, Section 15061(b)(3).) 
 
Lead Agency Contact Person: Amy Wolfson, City Planner  Number:     
 
Signature & Title:          Date:      
 
�  Signed by Lead Agency    � Signed by Applicant Date received for filing:    
 

91



 
RESOLUTION NO. 2015-XX                     

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE 

CITY OF NEVADA CITY, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, 
RECOMMENDING ADOPTION OF AN ORDINANCE 
ADDING CHAPTER 17.140 ENTITLED “MARIJUANA 

REGULATIONS” 
 

The Planning Commission of the City of Nevada City finds and determines that: 
 
Section 1. 

   
A. The Ordinance Amending the Nevada City Municipal Code to add Chapter 17.140 

entitled “Marijuana Regulations” (“Ordinance”) is exempt from review under the California 
Environmental Quality Act pursuant to California Code of Regulations Section 15061 (b)(3) – Activity is 
not subject to CEQA because there is no possibility the Ordinance will have a significant effect on the 
environment; and 

 
B. The activities permitted under the Ordinance are consistent with and implement the 

goals and policies of the Nevada City General Plan;  
 

  Section 2. The Planning Commission hereby recommends City Council approval of 
the Ordinance Amending the Nevada City Municipal Code to add Chapter 17.140 entitled “Marijuana 
Regulations” in the form attached hereto as Exhibit 1 and incorporated herein by this reference.     
 

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED by the Planning Commission of the City of Nevada 
City at a public meeting held on the 10th of December, 2015. 

 
AYES:  PLANNING COMMISSIONERS:   
NOES: PLANNING COMMISSIONERS:     
ABSENT: PLANNING COMMISSIONERS:   

 
 
       _______________________________________ 
       ____________________,CHAIRMAN 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST:   
 
 
By:  __________________________________      
         
 

92



EXHIBIT “1” 
 

ORDINANCE NO. ______ 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF NEVADA CITY, CALIFORNIA, 
ADDING CHAPTER 17.140 TO THE NEVADA CITY MUNICIPAL CODE 
ENTITLED “MARIJUANA REGULATIONS”  

 
WHEREAS, the City of Nevada City, pursuant to its police power, may adopt 

regulations to protect the health, safety and welfare of the public, Cal. Const. art. XI, § 7, 
Cal. Govt. Code § 37100, and thereby is authorized to declare what use or condition 
constitutes a public nuisance; and 

 
WHEREAS, Section 38771 of the California Government Code 38771 authorizes the 

City through its legislative body to declare actions and activities that constitute a public 
nuisance; and 

 
WHEREAS, in 1970, Congress enacted the Controlled Substances Act (21 U.S.C. 

Section 801 et seq.) which, among other things, makes it illegal to import, manufacture, 
distribute, possess, or use marijuana for any purpose in the United States and further 
provides criminal penalties for marijuana possession, cultivation and distribution; and 

 
WHEREAS, the People of the State of California have enacted Proposition 215, the 

Compassionate Use Act of 1996 (codified at Health and Safety Code Section 11362.5 et 
seq.) (the “CUA”), which exempts qualified patients and their primary caregivers from 
criminal prosecution under enumerated Health and Safety Code sections for use of 
marijuana for medical purposes; and 

 
WHEREAS, the California Legislature enacted Senate Bill 420 in 2003, the Medical 

Marijuana Program Act (codified at Health and Safety Code Section 11362.7 et seq.) (the 
“MMPA”), as amended, which created a state-wide identification card scheme for qualified 
patients and primary caregivers; and 

 
WHEREAS, on October 11, 2015, the Governor signed into law Senate Bill 643, 

Assembly Bill 266, and Assembly Bill 243, collectively referred to as the Medical Marijuana 
Regulation and Safety Act (“MMRSA”), effective January 1, 2016, which establishes a state 
licensing system for medical marijuana cultivation, manufacturing, delivery, and dispensing, 
regulating these activities with licensing requirements and regulations that are only 
applicable if cities and counties also permit marijuana cultivation, manufacturing, 
dispensing, and delivery within their jurisdictions.  Under the MMRSA, cities and counties 
may continue to ban medical marijuana cultivation, manufacturing, dispensing, and 
delivery, in which case the new law would not allow or permit these activities within the 
cities and counties; and   

 
WHEREAS, notwithstanding the CUA, the MMPA, and the MMRSA, marijuana 

remains a schedule I substance pursuant to Cal. Health & Saf. Code § 11054 (d)(13); and 
 
WHEREAS, marijuana also remains a schedule I substance pursuant to federal law, 

21 U.S.C. § 812, Schedule 1 (c)(10), and federal law does not provide for any medical use 
defense or exception (Gonzales v. Raich, 545 U.S. 1 (2005); United States v. Oakland 
Cannabis Buyers’ Coop., 532 U.S. 483 (2001)); and  

 

93



WHEREAS, the California Supreme Court has established that neither the CUA nor 
the MMPA preempt local regulation in the case of City of Riverside v. Inland Empire 
Patients Health and Wellness Center, Inc., 56 Cal. 4th 729 (2013); and 

 
WHEREAS, the MMRSA expressly allows cities and counties to ban marijuana 

cultivation consistent with current state law including the City of Riverside v. Inland Empire 
Patients Health and Wellness Center, Inc., 56 Cal. 4th 729 (2013); 

 
WHEREAS, the MMRSA provides that if a city, county, or city and county does not 

have land use regulations or ordinances regulating or prohibiting the cultivation of 
marijuana, either expressly or otherwise under the principles of permissive zoning, or 
chooses not to administer a conditional permit program pursuit to the MMRSA, then 
commencing March 1, 2016, the state will be the sole licensing authority for medical 
marijuana cultivation applicants (Health & Safety Code section 11372.777(c)(4));   

 
WHEREAS, the City intends by the adoption of this ordinance to regulate marijuana 

cultivation within the City for the express and specific purpose of preserving the City’s 
authority to ban and/or adopt future regulations pertaining to marijuana cultivation as is 
required by California Health and Safety Code section 11372.777(c)(4), effective January 1, 
2016, added by the MMRSA; and  

 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Nevada City finds that it is in the interest 

of the health, safety and welfare of the City to make prohibit outdoor marijuana cultivation 
and to limit and regulate the indoor cultivation of marijuana within the City;  

 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the outdoor cultivation of marijuana 

significantly impacts, or has the potential to significantly impact, the City’s jurisdiction. 
These impacts include the following:  

 
A. Public safety agencies, city residents, and other public entities have reported 

adverse impacts from outdoor marijuana cultivation, including disagreeable odors 
and release of pollen that can aggravate the respiratory system; increased risk of 
burglary and other property crimes; and acts of violence in connection with the 
commission of such crimes or the occupants' attempts to prevent such crimes.  

B. The creation of persistent strong odors as marijuana plants mature and flower is 
offensive to many people and creates an attractive nuisance, alerting persons to the 
location of valuable marijuana plants and creating an increased risk of crime.  

C. The unregulated cultivation of marijuana can adversely affect the health, safety and 
well-being of the city and its residents. Comprehensive regulation of premises used 
for marijuana cultivation is proper and necessary to avoid the risks of criminal 
activity, degradation of the natural environment, smells and indoor electrical fire 
hazards that may result from unregulated marijuana cultivation, especially if the 
amount of marijuana cultivated on a single premises is not regulated and substantial 
amounts of marijuana can be cultivated in a concentrated place.  

D. Unlimited and unregulated indoor cultivation of substantial amounts of marijuana 
also frequently requires excessive use of electricity, which often creates an 
unreasonable risk of fire from the electrical grow lighting systems used in indoor 
cultivation.  

E. Children are particularly vulnerable to the effects of marijuana use, and the presence 
of marijuana plants has proven to be an attractive nuisance for children, creating an 
unreasonable hazard in areas frequented by children including hospitals, schools, 

94



church parks or playgrounds, childcare centers, recreation centers or youth centers. 
Cultivation of any amount of marijuana at, or near these sensitive uses presents 
unique risks that the marijuana plants may be observed by juveniles, and therefore 
be especially vulnerable to theft or recreational consumption by juveniles. Further, 
the potential for criminal activities associated with marijuana cultivation in such 
locations poses heightened risks that juveniles will be involved or endangered. 
Therefore, cultivation of any amount of marijuana in such locations or premises is 
especially hazardous to public safety and welfare, and to the protection of children 
and the person(s) cultivating the marijuana plants.  

 
F. The cultivation of marijuana in other cities has resulted in calls for service to the 

police department, including calls for robberies thefts, and physical assaults from 
marijuana that is grown outdoors;  

 
G. Marijuana growth poses significant safety risks for surrounding neighbors, 

including but not limits to, risks of violent confrontation in connection with 
attempts to steal marijuana, risk of fire from improperly wired electrical lights 
within structures growing marijuana, risk of guard dogs and security measures 
associated with structures and properties growing marijuana; and 
 

H. Staff and residents of the city have observed that the smell associated with 
marijuana cultivation is severe enough that it interferes with the use and 
enjoyment of property in the city. 

 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Nevada City, California, pursuant to the provisions of the 

California Environmental Quality Act (hereinafter “CEQA”) (California Public Resources 
Code Sections 21000 et seq.) and State CEQA guidelines (Sections 15000 et seq.) has 
determined that the Ordinance is exempt pursuant to Section 15061(b)(3) of Title 14 the 
California Code of Regulations; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the provisions of this Ordinance are 

consistent with the City of Nevada City’s General Plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds that this Ordinance will not adversely affect 

property values and will not be detrimental to the City; and  
 
 WHEREAS, on  [INSERT DATE]                                            , 2015, following 

proper notice and public hearing, the City’s Planning Commission adopted Resolution No. 
[INSERT RESO. NO.]  recommending to the City Council the adoption of an Ordinance 
amending Title 17 of the Nevada City  Municipal Code, relating to marijuana regulations; 
and  

 
WHEREAS, the City Council has considered evidence presented by the Planning 

Commission and City Staff at a duly noticed public hearing held on [INSERT DATE]; and 
 
WHEREAS, all legal prerequisites prior to the adoption of this ordinance have 

occurred. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY DOES 

ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 

95



SECTION 1: The City Council finds that all the facts, findings, and conclusions set forth above 
in this Ordinance are true and correct. 
 
SECTION 2: Chapter 17.140 is hereby added to the Nevada City Municipal Code to read as 
follows: 
 

Chapter 17.140 
MARIJUANA REGULATIONS 

Sections: 

17.140.010    Purpose. 

17.140.020    Definitions. 

17.140.030    Outdoor cultivation of marijuana. 

17.140.040    Indoor cultivation of marijuana. 

17.140.045    Cultivation permit. 

17.140.050    Public nuisance. 

17.140.055    Sale of medical marijuana prohibited. 

17.140.060    Enforcement. 

17.140.070    Penalty for violation. 

17.140.010 Purpose. 

The purpose and intent of this chapter are to require that medical marijuana be cultivated only in appropriately secured, 

enclosed, and ventilated structures, so as not to be visible to the general public, to provide for the health, safety and 

welfare of the public, to prevent negative impacts to property values, to prevent odor created by marijuana plants from 

impacting adjacent properties, to prevent crime associated with marijuana, and to ensure that marijuana grown for 

medical purposes remains secure and does not find its way to nonpatients, minors, or illicit markets. Nothing in this 

chapter is intended to authorize the cultivation, possession, or use of marijuana for nonmedical purposes in violation of 

state or federal law. It is not the intent of this chapter to create conflict or inconsistency between this chapter and (A) the 

Constitutions of the United States or the state of California; (B) the federal Controlled Substances Act; or (C) California 

law.  

17.140.020 Definitions. 

For purposes of this chapter, the following definitions shall apply, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise: 

“Abatement” means the removal of marijuana plants and improvements that support marijuana cultivation which occupy 

an area or cubic feet in excess of the area and cubic feet that is allowed under this chapter. 

“Bedroom” means a room inside a residential building being utilized by any person primarily for sleeping purposes. 

“Child care center” means any licensed child care center, daycare center, or child care home, or any preschool. 

96

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/ranchocordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html%236.90.010
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/ranchocordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html%236.90.020
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/ranchocordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html%236.90.030
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/ranchocordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html%236.90.040
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/ranchocordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html%236.90.045
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/ranchocordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html%236.90.050
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/ranchocordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html%236.90.055
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/ranchocordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html%236.90.060
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/ranchocordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html%236.90.070


“Cultivated area” means any area indoors that is the greater of either (A) the total area of a property that is densely or 

primarily occupied by marijuana cultivation; or (B) one square foot per juvenile or mature marijuana plant indoors on the 

property. 

“Cultivation” or “marijuana cultivation” means the planting, growing, harvesting, drying, or processing of marijuana 

plants, or any part thereof. 

“Fully enclosed and secure structure” means a space within a building, greenhouse or other structure which has a 

complete roof enclosure supported by connecting walls extending from the ground to the roof, which is secure against 

unauthorized entry, provides complete visual screening, and which is accessible only through one or more lockable 

doors and inaccessible to minors. 

“Indoors” means within a fully enclosed and secure structure. 

“Marijuana” means the plant Cannabis sativa L. and any of its derivatives that is six inches in height or taller, grown in 

accordance with state law. 

“Outdoors” means any location within the city of Nevada City that is not within a fully enclosed and secure structure. 

“Parcel” means property assigned a separate parcel number by the Nevada County assessor. 

“Premises” means a single, legal parcel of property. Where contiguous legal parcels are under common ownership or 

control, such contiguous legal parcels shall constitute a single “premises” for purposes of this chapter. 

“Primary caregiver” means a “primary caregiver” as defined in Section 11362.7(d) of the Health and Safety Code, as 

may be amended from time to time. 

“Qualified patient” means a “qualified patient” as defined in Section 11362.7(f) of the Health and Safety Code. 

“Rear yard” means the rear open space portion of any premises, whether fenced or unfenced. 

“Residential structure” means any building or portion thereof legally existing which contains living facilities, including 

provisions for sleeping, eating, cooking, and sanitation on a premises or legal parcel located within a zoning district that 

allows residential uses. 

“School” means an institution of learning for persons under 21 years of age, whether public or private, offering regular 

course of instruction including, without limitation, a kindergarten, elementary school, middle or junior high school, or 

senior high school. 

“Single-family dwelling” means a detached building designed for and/or occupied by one family which does not share 

walls with another dwelling. 

97

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=HSC&sectionNum=11362.7
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=HSC&sectionNum=11362.7


“Solid fence” means a fence constructed of substantial material (such as wood or vinyl) that prevents viewing the 

contents from one side to the other. 

17.140.030 Outdoor cultivation of marijuana. 

All outdoor cultivation of marijuana within the city is prohibited. It is hereby declared to be unlawful and a public 

nuisance for any person owning, leasing, occupying, or having charge or possession of any parcel within any zoning 

district in the city of Nevada City to cause or allow such parcel to be used for the outdoor cultivation of marijuana.  

17.140.040 Indoor cultivation of marijuana. 

A. It is hereby declared to be unlawful and a public nuisance for any person owning, leasing, occupying, or having 

charge or possession of any parcel in the city of Nevada City to cause or allow such parcel to be used for the cultivation 

of marijuana plants within a fully enclosed and secure structure on the parcel, except as provided in subsections (B) and 

(C) of this section. 

B. Who Is Permitted to Cultivate Marijuana Indoors. 

1. Only a person who is at least 18 years old and either a qualified patient or a primary caregiver may 

engage in indoor cultivation of medical marijuana. 

2. Residency Requirement. The qualified patient or primary caregiver shall reside full-time on the 

premises where the indoor cultivation of medical marijuana occurs. 

3. Permission of Owner. Tenants shall obtain the written permission, with notarized signature of the 

property owner(s) prior to cultivating marijuana. Such written permission shall be submitted to the city 

together with the completed cultivation permit application. 

4. Permit Required. Prior to engaging in any indoor cultivation of marijuana pursuant to this chapter, a 

qualified patient or primary caregiver shall obtain a cultivation permit from the city’s Chief of Police or his 

or her designee, pursuant to the requirement of Section 17.140.045 of this Chapter. 

C. Indoor Cultivation Standards. Marijuana cultivated indoors, within the city of Nevada City, shall be in conformance 

with the following standards: 

1. Indoor cultivation of marijuana is permitted only on parcels with single-family residential units. 

2. Marijuana cultivation is permitted only within fully enclosed and secure structures inaccessible to 

minors. If the fully enclosed and secure structure is a residence, it shall be a single-family dwelling. No 

cultivation may occur in duplexes, triplexes, or other multifamily dwellings. A fully enclosed and secure 

structure used for the cultivation of marijuana that is separate from the main residence on a premises 

must maintain a minimum 10-foot setback from any property line or the minimum set-back required 

98

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/RanchoCordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html%236.90.045


under any other applicable provision of this Title 17 if such set-backs exceed 10 feet, and the area 

surrounding the structure must be enclosed by a solid fence at least six feet in height. 

3. Marijuana cultivation may not occur in both a detached structure and inside a residence on the same 

parcel. Only one cultivation area is allowed per parcel. 

4. Marijuana cultivation may not occur in a residence where persons under 18 years of age reside, 

whether full- or part-time. 

5. Marijuana cultivation areas in a structure shall not be accessible to persons under 18 years of age. 

Cultivation areas shall be secured by lock and key or other security device which prevents unauthorized 

entry. 

6. Indoor cultivation of marijuana shall not exceed 25 square feet, regardless of how many qualified 

patients or primary caregivers are residing at the premises, unless the Chief of Police or his or her or 

designee has approved a request under subsection (D) of this section. 

7. Marijuana cultivation shall not occur on any carpeted area. 

8. Marijuana cultivation lighting shall not exceed 1,200 watts and shall comply with the California 

Building, Electrical and Fire Codes as adopted by the city. 

9. The use of gas products (CO2, butane, etc.) or generators for marijuana cultivation or processing is 

prohibited. 

10. Marijuana cultivation for sale is prohibited. 

11. From a public right-of-way, there shall be no exterior evidence of marijuana cultivation. 

12. The residence shall be occupied and is required to maintain a functioning kitchen and bathroom(s), 

and the use of primary bedrooms are for their intended purpose. These rooms shall not be used for 

marijuana cultivation. 

13. Any marijuana cultivation area located within a residence shall not create a humidity or mold problem 

in violation of Nevada City building and state health and safety codes. 

14. Any structure used for the cultivation of medical marijuana must have proper ventilation to prevent 

mold damage and to prevent marijuana plant odors or particles from becoming a public nuisance to 

surrounding properties or the public. A public nuisance may be deemed to exist if the cultivation 

produces odors which are disturbing to people of normal sensitivity residing or present on adjacent or 

nearby property or areas open to the public. 

99



15. The marijuana cultivation area shall not adversely affect the health or safety of the nearby residents 

by creating dust, glare, heat, noise, smoke, traffic, vibration, or other impacts, and shall not be 

hazardous due to use or storage of materials, processes, products or wastes. 

16. Use, storage, or discharge into City wastewater facilities of any hazardous chemicals in the 

cultivation of marijuana is strictly prohibited.  “Hazardous chemicals” shall include, but is not limited to, 

any chemical or substance that is prohibited by the Federal Environmental Protection Agency or the 

California Department of Food and Agriculture.   

17. Water usage for cultivation of marijuana under this Chapter shall not exceed any limitations imposed 

by federal, state, or local water restrictions.   

18. The marijuana grower shall pay any applicable city taxes relating to marijuana. 

19.  Marijuana cultivation may not occur within 600 feet of a school, childcare center, or City park. 

D. Indoor Marijuana Cultivation in Excess of 25 Square Feet. Any proposed marijuana cultivation by an individual that 

may exceed the cultivation area standard maximum of 25 square feet per residence shall require administrative review 

by the Chief of Police or his or her designee, and shall meet the criteria set forth above, as well as the additional criteria 

set forth in subsections (D)(1) through (3) of this section: 

1. Documentation of medical need, such as a physician’s recommendation; and 

2. Inspection of the cultivation area by the chief of police or his or her designee to confirm that no health 

or safety concerns are present; and 

3. The chief of police or his or her designee may require additional specific standards to meet the 

California Building Code and Fire Code, including, but not limited to, installation of fire suppression 

sprinklers.  

17.140.045 Cultivation permit. 

A. Prior to commencing any indoor medical marijuana cultivation, a qualified patient or primary caregiver must obtain a 

medical marijuana cultivation permit from the Chief of Police or his or her designee. The form of permit application and 

renewal application shall be developed by the Chief of Police or his or her designee, shall be completed by the 

applicant, signed and notarized by the applicant, and shall contain the following information:  

1. The name of each person owning, leasing, occupying, or having charge of any legal parcel or 

premises where medical marijuana will be cultivated. 

2.  When the applicant is not the sole owner of the property, the written permission of the owner’s 

consent to allow marijuana cultivation to occur on the premise with the owner’s notarized signature. 

100



3. The name of each qualified patient or primary caregiver who participates in the medical marijuana 

cultivation. 

4. A copy of a current valid medical recommendation or county-issued medical marijuana card for each 

qualified patient identified as required above, and for each qualified patient for whom any person 

identified as required above is the primary caregiver. 

5. The physical site address of where the medical marijuana will be cultivated. 

6. A signed consent form, acceptable to the city, authorizing city staff, including the Chief of Police  or his 

or her designee, to conduct a quarterly inspection of the detached, fully enclosed and secure structure or 

area of the residence used for the cultivation of marijuana upon 24 hours’ notice. 

B. The initial permit shall be valid for one year and each renewal permit shall be valid for one year.   

C. To the extent permitted by law, any personal or medical information submitted with a medical marijuana cultivation 

permit application or permit extension shall be kept confidential and shall only be used for purposes of administering 

this chapter. 

D. The Chief of Police, or his or her designee, may, in his or her discretion, deny any application for a medical 

marijuana cultivation permit, or extension thereof, where he or she finds, based on articulated facts, that the issuance of 

such permit, or extension thereof, would be detrimental to the public health, safety, or welfare. A prior criminal 

conviction for a drug-related offense by the permit applicant shall be grounds for denial. The Chief of Police shall deny 

an application for a medical marijuana cultivation permit, or extension thereof, that does not demonstrate satisfaction of 

the minimum requirements of this chapter. Such denial shall be given to the applicant in writing and shall describe the 

grounds for the denial. 

E. A person who is denied a marijuana cultivation permit under this section may appeal such denial to the Planning 

Commission within 10 days of the date the Chief of Police issues the written denial required by subsection (D) of this 

section. 

F. Upon timely request by the person requesting the marijuana cultivation permit, the appeal hearing process and 

related procedures of a denial of its permit pursuant to this section shall proceed pursuant to the provisions of Section 

17.88.050 of this Title. 

G. The Chief of Police or his or her designee may charge a fee or fees required to be paid upon filing of an application 

for permit(s) as provided by this chapter, which fees shall not exceed the reasonable cost of administering this chapter.  

H. Permittees shall comply with all state laws, guidelines, and license requirements applicable to marijuana cultivation 

including those set forth and promulgated under the Medical Marijuana Regulation and Safety Act.  Failure to comply 

with any state law, regulations, or license requirement pertaining to marijuana cultivation shall be grounds for City 

101



permit revocation.  Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to allow a permittee to cultivate marijuana within the City 

of Nevada City in violation of state law.   

17.140.050 Public nuisance. 

It is hereby declared to be unlawful for any person owning, leasing, occupying, or having charge or possession of any 

parcel within the city of Nevada City to create a public nuisance in the course of cultivating marijuana plants or any part 

thereof. A public nuisance may be deemed to exist if such activity produces: 

A. Odors which are disturbing to people of normal sensitivity residing or present on adjacent or nearby property or areas 

open to the public; 

B. Repeated responses (more than three times in a one-year time period) to the parcel from law enforcement officers; 

C. Repeated disruption (more than three times in a one-year time period) to the free passage of persons or vehicles in 

the neighborhood; 

D. Excessive noise in violation of applicable city noise standards in the general plan or municipal code; 

E. Any other impacts on the neighborhood which are disruptive of normal activity in the area.  

17.140.055 Sale of medical marijuana prohibited. 

It shall be unlawful for any person cultivating medical marijuana pursuant to this chapter to sell or offer for sale the 

marijuana permitted to be grown under this chapter.  

17.140.060 Enforcement. 

A. The violation of this chapter is hereby declared to be a public nuisance. Any person violating any provision of this 

chapter shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction, shall be punished by a fine not to exceed the 

amount provided in Penal Code Section 19, as may be amended from time to time, by imprisonment in the county jail 

not to exceed six months, or by both a fine and imprisonment. 

B. A violation of this chapter may be abated by the city attorney, or outside counsel retained by the City, by the 

prosecution of a civil action for injunctive relief and by the abatement procedure set forth in Chapter 8.04. 

C. Abatement Procedure. The Chief of Police, or his or her designee (hereafter the “enforcement official”), is hereby 

authorized to order the abatement of any violation of this chapter by following the abatement procedure as defined in 

Chapter 8.04. In addition, the enforcement official may require the property owner or tenant to personally abate/remove 

all medical marijuana plants and improvements to the property that exceed the limits set by this chapter. 

17.140.070 Penalty for violation. 

102

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=PEN&sectionNum=19
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/RanchoCordova16/RanchoCordova1618.html%2316.18


A. Cultivation of marijuana on parcels within the city that does not comply with this chapter is a misdemeanor subject to 

the penalties and enforcement as provided in Section 1.12.010. 

B. The remedies and penalties provided herein are cumulative, alternative and nonexclusive. The use of one does not 

prevent the use of any others, including those in Section 1.12.010 and Chapter 8.04, and none of these penalties and 

remedies prevents the city from using any other remedy at law or in equity which may be available to enforce this 

chapter or to abate a public nuisance.  

 

 

SECTION 3:  Any provision of the Nevada City Municipal Code or appendices thereto 
inconsistent with the provisions of this Ordinance, to the extent of such inconsistencies and no 
further, is hereby repealed or modified to that extent necessary to effect the provisions of this 
Ordinance. 
 
SECTION 4:  Should any provision of this Ordinance, or its application to any person or 
circumstance, be determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unlawful, unenforceable 
or otherwise void, that determination shall have no effect on any other provision of this 
Ordinance or the application of this Ordinance to any other person or circumstance and, to that 
end, the provisions hereof are severable. The City Council of the City of Nevada City declares 
that it would have adopted all the provisions of this ordinance that remain valid if any 
provisions of this ordinance are declared invalid. 
 
SECTION 5:  The Mayor shall sign and the City Clerk shall certify to the passage and adoption 
of this Ordinance and shall cause the same to be published and posted pursuant to the 
provisions of law in that regard and this Ordinance shall take effect 30 days after its final 
passage. 
 

APPROVED FOR INTRODUCTION AT A REGULAR MEETING on the ____th day of 
_________, 2015, by the following vote: 
 

AYES: COUNCIL MEMBERS:   
NOES: COUNCIL MEMBERS:   
ABSENT: COUNCIL MEMBERS:   

  
PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED this _____th day of __________, 2015, by the 

following vote: 
 

AYES: COUNCIL MEMBERS:   
NOES: COUNCIL MEMBERS:   
ABSENT: COUNCIL MEMBERS:   

 
 

_____________________________ 
       _________________, Mayor 

 
 
 

103

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/RanchoCordova01/RanchoCordova0101.html%231.01.190
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/RanchoCordova16/RanchoCordova1618.html%2316.18


 
ATTEST:       APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
_____________________________         
__________, City Clerk     _______________, City Attorney 
 
 
 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA ) 
COUNTY OF ________  ) ss. 
CITY  OF ____________ ) 
 
 
I, ___________, City Clerk of _______________, do hereby certify that the foregoing 
ordinance was introduced on the ______th day of ____________, 2015, was regularly adopted 
at a meeting thereof on the ____th day of __________, 2015 and was published/posted 
pursuant to law. 
 
 

_____________________________ 
_______________, City Clerk 

104



 
RESOLUTION NO. 2015-XX                     

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
NEVADA CITY, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, APPROVING A 

NOTICE OF EXEMPTION  
(Ordinance Adding Chapter 17.140 to the Nevada City Municipal 

Code entitled “Marijuana Regulations”) 
   

WHEREAS, City planning and legal staff have reviewed the Ordinance Amending the Nevada 
City Municipal Code to add Chapter 17.140 entitled “Marijuana Regulations” (“Project”) and 
determined that it is exempt from review under the California Environmental Quality Act pursuant to 
Title 14, Chapter 3, California Code of Regulations, Section 15061 (b)(3) – Activity is not subject to 
CEQA because there is no possibility the project will have a significant effect on the environment; and 
 

WHEREAS, a Notice of Exemption has been prepared for the Project. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Nevada City as 

follows: 
 
Section 1. Based on the review and determination of the Planning Department, the City Council 

of the City of Nevada City finds that the Project is exempt from review under the California 
Environmental Quality Act. 
 

Section 2. A Notice of Exemption is approved for the Project. 
 
Section 3. Upon approval of the Project by the City Council, the Deputy City Clerk may file the 

Notice of Exemption with the County Clerk of Nevada County and, if the Project requires a 
discretionary approval from any state agency, with the State Office of Planning and Research, pursuant 
to the provisions of Section 21152(b) of the Public Resources Code and the State EIR Guidelines 
adopted pursuant thereto. 

 
PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Nevada City at a 

public meeting held on the ___of January, 2016. 
 
 
       _______________________________________ 
       ____________________,MAYOR 
ATTEST:   
 
 
By:  __________________________________      

CITY CLERK 

105



 
NOTICE OF EXEMPTION 

   
 
 

TO:  Office of Planning and Research  FROM:  City of Nevada City 

  1400 Tenth Street       317 Broad Street 
  Sacramento, CA 95814      Nevada City, CA 95959 
 

 Nevada County Clerk/Recorder’s Office 

Environmental Filings 
Eric W. Rood Administrative Center 
950 Maidu Avenue, Nevada City CA 95959 

 
 
Project Title:  Ordinance Amending Nevada City Municipal Code to Add Chapter 17.140 entitled 
“Marijuana Regulations” 
 
Project Address:  317 Broad Street, Nevada City, California 95959 
 
Project Location – City: City of Nevada City 
Project Location – County: Nevada 
 
Project Description:  The ordinance amends the Nevada City Municipal Code to add Chapter 17.140 
containing marijuana cultivation regulations.  Chapter 17.140 prohibits outdoor marijuana cultivation, 
and permits limited indoor cultivation by qualified patients, persons with identification cards, and 
primary caregivers.   
 
Name of Public Agency Approving Project: City of Nevada City 
 
Name of Person or Agency Carrying Out Project:  City of Nevada City 
 
Exempt Status:  (Check One) 
  Ministerial (Section 21080(b)(1); 15268); 
  Declared Emergency (Section 21080(b)(3); 15269(a)); 
  Emergency Project (Section 21080(b)(4); 15269(b)(c)); 
     X  “Common Sense” Exception (Section 15061(b)(3)) 
__   Categorical Exemption.  Type and section number:   
  Statutory Exemptions. State code number:  
 
Reasons why project is exempt: The project is an ordinance that amends the Nevada City Municipal 
Code to add Chapter 17.140 entitled “Marijuana Regulations.”  Chapter 17.140 prohibits all outdoor 
cultivation within the City, and allows qualified patients, persons with identification cards, and primary 
caregivers to cultivate a limited amount of marijuana plants indoors, subject to the other requirements 
contained in the Chapter.  The ordinance allows such a small amount of indoor marijuana to be grown 
by a select few qualifying individuals, and energy, water, and fertilizer/pesticide usage will be 
substantially similar to existing typical household non-marijuana indoor plant grows, so that there will be 
an overall negligible impact to the environment.  Therefore, the project is exempt from CEQA as there 
is no possibility that the project will have a significant impact on the environment (Title 14, Chapter 3, 
Section 15061(b)(3).) 
 
Lead Agency Contact Person: Amy Wolfson, City Planner  Number:     
 
Signature & Title:          Date:      
 

  Signed by Lead Agency     Signed by Applicant Date received for filing:    

106



 
   

ORDINANCE NO. ______ 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF NEVADA CITY, CALIFORNIA, 
ADDING CHAPTER 17.140 TO THE NEVADA CITY MUNICIPAL CODE 
ENTITLED “MARIJUANA REGULATIONS”  

 
WHEREAS, the City of Nevada City, pursuant to its police power, may adopt 

regulations to protect the health, safety and welfare of the public, Cal. Const. art. XI, § 7, 
Cal. Govt. Code § 37100, and thereby is authorized to declare what use or condition 
constitutes a public nuisance; and 

 
WHEREAS, Section 38771 of the California Government Code 38771 authorizes the 

City through its legislative body to declare actions and activities that constitute a public 
nuisance; and 

 
WHEREAS, in 1970, Congress enacted the Controlled Substances Act (21 U.S.C. 

Section 801 et seq.) which, among other things, makes it illegal to import, manufacture, 
distribute, possess, or use marijuana for any purpose in the United States and further 
provides criminal penalties for marijuana possession, cultivation and distribution; and 

 
WHEREAS, the People of the State of California have enacted Proposition 215, the 

Compassionate Use Act of 1996 (codified at Health and Safety Code Section 11362.5 et 
seq.) (the “CUA”), which exempts qualified patients and their primary caregivers from 
criminal prosecution under enumerated Health and Safety Code sections for use of 
marijuana for medical purposes; and 

 
WHEREAS, the California Legislature enacted Senate Bill 420 in 2003, the Medical 

Marijuana Program Act (codified at Health and Safety Code Section 11362.7 et seq.) (the 
“MMPA”), as amended, which created a state-wide identification card scheme for qualified 
patients and primary caregivers; and 

 
WHEREAS, on October 11, 2015, the Governor signed into law Senate Bill 643, 

Assembly Bill 266, and Assembly Bill 243, collectively referred to as the Medical Marijuana 
Regulation and Safety Act (“MMRSA”), effective January 1, 2016, which establishes a state 
licensing system for medical marijuana cultivation, manufacturing, delivery, and dispensing, 
regulating these activities with licensing requirements and regulations that are only 
applicable if cities and counties also permit marijuana cultivation, manufacturing, 
dispensing, and delivery within their jurisdictions.  Under the MMRSA, cities and counties 
may continue to ban medical marijuana cultivation, manufacturing, dispensing, and 
delivery, in which case the new law would not allow or permit these activities within the 
cities and counties; and   

 
WHEREAS, notwithstanding the CUA, the MMPA, and the MMRSA, marijuana 

remains a schedule I substance pursuant to Cal. Health & Saf. Code § 11054 (d)(13); and 
 
WHEREAS, marijuana also remains a schedule I substance pursuant to federal law, 

21 U.S.C. § 812, Schedule 1 (c)(10), and federal law does not provide for any medical use 
defense or exception (Gonzales v. Raich, 545 U.S. 1 (2005); United States v. Oakland 
Cannabis Buyers’ Coop., 532 U.S. 483 (2001)); and  

 

107



WHEREAS, the California Supreme Court has established that neither the CUA nor 
the MMPA preempt local regulation in the case of City of Riverside v. Inland Empire 
Patients Health and Wellness Center, Inc., 56 Cal. 4th 729 (2013); and 

 
WHEREAS, the MMRSA expressly allows cities and counties to ban marijuana 

cultivation consistent with current state law including the case of  City of Riverside v. Inland 
Empire Patients Health and Wellness Center, Inc., 56 Cal. 4th 729 (2013); 

 
WHEREAS, the MMRSA provides that if a city, county, or city and county does not 

have land use regulations or ordinances regulating or prohibiting the cultivation of 
marijuana, either expressly or otherwise under the principles of permissive zoning, or 
chooses not to administer a conditional permit program pursuit to the MMRSA, then 
commencing March 1, 2016, the state will be the sole licensing authority for medical 
marijuana cultivation applicants (Health & Safety Code section 11372.777(c)(4));   

 
WHEREAS, the City intends by the adoption of this ordinance to regulate marijuana 

cultivation within the City for the express and specific purpose of preserving the City’s 
authority to ban and/or adopt future regulations pertaining to marijuana cultivation as is 
required by California Health and Safety Code section 11372.777(c)(4), effective January 1, 
2016, added by the MMRSA; and  

 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Nevada City finds that it is in the interest 

of the health, safety and welfare of the City to prohibit outdoor marijuana cultivation and to 
limit and regulate the indoor cultivation of marijuana within the City;  

 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the outdoor cultivation of marijuana 

significantly impacts, or has the potential to significantly impact, the City’s jurisdiction. 
These impacts include the following:  

 
A. Public safety agencies, city residents, and other public entities have reported 

adverse impacts from outdoor marijuana cultivation, including disagreeable odors 
and release of pollen that can aggravate the respiratory system; increased risk of 
burglary and other property crimes; and acts of violence in connection with the 
commission of such crimes or the occupants' attempts to prevent such crimes.  

B. The creation of persistent strong odors as marijuana plants mature and flower is 
offensive to many people and creates an attractive nuisance, alerting persons to the 
location of valuable marijuana plants and creating an increased risk of crime.  

C. The unregulated cultivation of marijuana can adversely affect the health, safety and 
well-being of the city and its residents. Comprehensive regulation of premises used 
for marijuana cultivation is proper and necessary to avoid the risks of criminal 
activity, degradation of the natural environment, smells and indoor electrical fire 
hazards that may result from unregulated marijuana cultivation, especially if the 
amount of marijuana cultivated on a single premises is not regulated and substantial 
amounts of marijuana can be cultivated in a concentrated place.  

D. Unlimited and unregulated indoor cultivation of substantial amounts of marijuana 
also frequently requires excessive use of electricity, which often creates an 
unreasonable risk of fire from the electrical grow lighting systems used in indoor 
cultivation.  

E. Children are particularly vulnerable to the effects of marijuana use, and the presence 
of marijuana plants has proven to be an attractive nuisance for children, creating an 
unreasonable hazard in areas frequented by children including hospitals, schools, 

108



church parks or playgrounds, childcare centers, recreation centers or youth centers. 
Cultivation of any amount of marijuana at, or near these sensitive uses presents 
unique risks that the marijuana plants may be observed by juveniles, and therefore 
be especially vulnerable to theft or recreational consumption by juveniles. Further, 
the potential for criminal activities associated with marijuana cultivation in such 
locations poses heightened risks that juveniles will be involved or endangered. 
Therefore, cultivation of any amount of marijuana in such locations or premises is 
especially hazardous to public safety and welfare, and to the protection of children 
and the person(s) cultivating the marijuana plants.  

 
F. The cultivation of marijuana in other cities has resulted in calls for service to the 

police department, including calls for robberies thefts, and physical assaults from 
marijuana that is grown outdoors;  

 
G. Marijuana growth poses significant safety risks for surrounding neighbors, 

including but not limited to, risks of violent confrontation in connection with 
attempts to steal marijuana, risk of fire from improperly wired electrical lights 
within structures growing marijuana, risk of guard dogs and security measures 
associated with structures and properties growing marijuana; and 
 

H. Staff and residents of the city have observed that the smell associated with 
marijuana cultivation is severe enough that it interferes with the use and 
enjoyment of property in the city. 

 
WHEREAS, the City does not intend by enacting this ordinance to either burden any 
defense to a criminal prosecution set forth in the CUA, the MMPA, or the MMRSA, or 
any other state law, or to criminalize any activities otherwise permitted by the state 
legislature through the CUA, the MMPA, or the MMRSA, or any other state law.    
 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Nevada City, California, pursuant to the provisions of the 

California Environmental Quality Act (hereinafter “CEQA”) (California Public Resources 
Code Sections 21000 et seq.) and State CEQA guidelines (Sections 15000 et seq.) has 
determined that the Ordinance is exempt pursuant to Section 15061(b)(3) of Title 14 the 
California Code of Regulations; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the provisions of this Ordinance are 

consistent with the City of Nevada City’s General Plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds that this Ordinance will not adversely affect 

property values and will not be detrimental to the City; and  
 
 WHEREAS, on December 10, 2015, following proper notice and public 

hearing, the City’s Planning Commission adopted Resolution No. 2015-55  recommending 
to the City Council the adoption of an Ordinance amending Title 17 of the Nevada City  
Municipal Code, relating to marijuana regulations and Resolution No. 2015-54 
Recommending Approval of a Notice of Exemption for the ordinance; and  

 
WHEREAS, the City Council has considered evidence presented by the Planning 

Commission and City Staff, including Planning Commission Resolution Nos. 2015-54 and 
2015-55,  at a duly noticed public hearing held on January 13, 2016; and 

 

109



WHEREAS, all legal prerequisites prior to the adoption of this ordinance have 
occurred. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY DOES 

ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1: The City Council finds that all the facts, findings, and conclusions set forth above 
in this Ordinance are true and correct. 
 
SECTION 2: Chapter 17.140 is hereby added to the Nevada City Municipal Code to read as 
follows: 
 

Chapter 17.140 
MARIJUANA REGULATIONS 

Sections: 

17.140.010    Purpose. 

17.140.020    Definitions. 

17.140.030    Outdoor cultivation of marijuana. 

17.140.040    Indoor cultivation of marijuana. 

17.140.045    Cultivation permit. 

17.140.050    Public nuisance. 

17.140.055    Sale of marijuana prohibited. 

17.140.060    Enforcement. 

17.140.010 Purpose. 

The purpose and intent of this chapter are to require that medical marijuana be cultivated only in appropriately secured, 

enclosed, and ventilated structures, so as not to be visible to the general public, to provide for the health, safety and 

welfare of the public, to prevent negative impacts to property values, to prevent odor created by marijuana plants from 

impacting adjacent properties, to prevent crime associated with marijuana, and to ensure that marijuana grown for 

medical purposes remains secure and does not find its way to nonpatients, minors, or illicit markets. Nothing in this 

chapter is intended to authorize the cultivation, possession, or use of marijuana for nonmedical purposes in violation of 

state or federal law. It is not the intent of this chapter to create conflict or inconsistency between this chapter and (A) the 

Constitutions of the United States or the state of California; (B) the federal Controlled Substances Act; or (C) California 

law.  

17.140.020 Definitions. 

For purposes of this chapter, the following definitions shall apply, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise: 

“Abatement” means the removal of marijuana plants and improvements that support marijuana cultivation which occupy 

an area or cubic feet in excess of the area and cubic feet that is allowed under this chapter. 

110

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/ranchocordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html#6.90.010
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/ranchocordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html#6.90.020
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/ranchocordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html#6.90.030
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/ranchocordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html#6.90.040
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/ranchocordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html#6.90.045
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/ranchocordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html#6.90.050
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/ranchocordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html#6.90.055
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/ranchocordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html#6.90.060


“Bedroom” means a room inside a residential building being utilized by any person primarily for sleeping purposes. 

“Child care center” means any licensed child care center, daycare center, or child care home, or any preschool. 

“Cultivated area” means any area indoors that is the greater of either (A) the total area of a property that is densely or 

primarily occupied by marijuana cultivation; or (B) one square foot per juvenile or mature marijuana plant indoors on the 

property. 

“Cultivation” or “marijuana cultivation” means the planting, growing, harvesting, drying, or processing of marijuana 

plants, or any part thereof. 

“Fully enclosed and secure structure” means a space within a building, greenhouse or other structure which has a 

complete roof enclosure supported by connecting walls extending from the ground to the roof, which is secure against 

unauthorized entry, provides complete visual screening, and which is accessible only through one or more lockable 

doors and inaccessible to minors. 

“Indoors” means within a fully enclosed and secure structure. 

“Marijuana” means the plant Cannabis sativa L. and any of its derivatives that is six inches in height or taller, grown in 

accordance with state law. 

“Outdoors” means any location within the city of Nevada City that is not within a fully enclosed and secure structure. 

“Parcel” means property assigned a separate parcel number by the Nevada County assessor. 

“Premises” means a single, legal parcel of property. Where contiguous legal parcels are under common ownership or 

control, such contiguous legal parcels shall constitute a single “premises” for purposes of this chapter. 

“Person with an identification card” means “person with an identification card” as defined in Section 11362.7 (c) of the 

Health and Safety Code, as may be amended from time to time. 

“Primary caregiver” means a “primary caregiver” as defined in Section 11362.7(d) of the Health and Safety Code, as 

may be amended from time to time. 

“Qualified patient” means a “qualified patient” as defined in Section 11362.7(f) of the Health and Safety Code, as may 

be amended from time to time. 

“Rear yard” means the rear open space portion of any premises, whether fenced or unfenced. 

“Residential structure” means any building or portion thereof legally existing which contains living facilities, including 

provisions for sleeping, eating, cooking, and sanitation on a premises or legal parcel located within a zoning district that 

allows residential uses. 

111

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=HSC&sectionNum=11362.7
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=HSC&sectionNum=11362.7


“School” means an institution of learning for persons under 21 years of age, whether public or private, offering regular 

course of instruction including, without limitation, a kindergarten, elementary school, middle or junior high school, or 

senior high school. 

“Single-family dwelling” means a detached building designed exclusively for occupancy by one family. A single family 

dwelling includes a manufactured home certified under the National Manufactured Housing Construction and Safety 

Standards of 1974 (42 U.S.C. Sections 5401 et seq.) on a foundation system, pursuant to Section 18551 of the Health 

and Safety Code, on lots zoned for conventional single family residential dwellings.  

“Solid fence” means a fence constructed of substantial material (such as wood or vinyl) that prevents viewing the 

contents from one side to the other. 

17.140.030 Outdoor cultivation of marijuana. 

All outdoor cultivation of marijuana within the city is prohibited. It is hereby declared to be unlawful and a public 

nuisance for any person owning, leasing, occupying, or having charge or possession of any parcel within any zoning 

district in the city of Nevada City to cause or allow such parcel to be used for the outdoor cultivation of marijuana.  

17.140.040 Indoor cultivation of marijuana. 

A. It is hereby declared to be unlawful and a public nuisance for any person owning, leasing, occupying, or having 

charge or possession of any parcel in the city of Nevada City to cause or allow such parcel to be used for the cultivation 

of marijuana plants within a fully enclosed and secure structure on the parcel, except as provided in subsections (B) and 

(C) of this section. 

B. Who Is Permitted to Cultivate Marijuana Indoors. 

1. Only a person who is at least 18 years old and is a qualified patient, person with an identification card, 

or a primary caregiver may engage in indoor cultivation of medical marijuana. 

2. Residency Requirement. The person authorized by this chapter to cultivate marijuana, whether a 

qualified patient, person with an identification card, or primary caregiver, shall reside full-time on the 

premises where the person cultivates marijuana.   

3. Permission of Owner. Tenants shall obtain the written permission, with notarized signature of the 

property owner(s) prior to cultivating marijuana. Such written permission shall be submitted to the city 

together with the completed cultivation permit application. 

4. Permit Required. Prior to engaging in any indoor cultivation of marijuana pursuant to this chapter, a 

qualified patient, person with an identification card, or primary caregiver shall obtain a cultivation permit 

from the city’s Chief of Police or his or her designee, pursuant to the requirement of Section 17.140.045 

of this Chapter. 

112

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/RanchoCordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html#6.90.045


C. Indoor Cultivation Standards. Marijuana cultivated indoors, within the city of Nevada City, shall be in conformance 

with the following standards: 

1. Indoor cultivation of marijuana is permitted only on parcels with single-family residential dwelling units 

or mobile homes located on single-family residential lots. 

2. Marijuana cultivation is permitted only within fully enclosed and secure structures inaccessible to 

minors. If the fully enclosed and secure structure is a residence, it shall be a single-family dwelling or a 

mobile home located on a single-family residential lot. No cultivation may occur in duplexes, triplexes, or 

other multifamily dwellings. A fully enclosed and secure structure used for the cultivation of marijuana 

that is separate from the main residence on a premises must maintain a minimum 10-foot setback from 

any property line or the minimum set-back required under any other applicable provision of this Title 17 if 

such set-backs exceed 10 feet, and the area surrounding the structure must be enclosed by a solid 

fence at least six feet in height. 

3. Marijuana cultivation may not occur in both a detached structure and inside a residence on the same 

parcel. Only one cultivation area is allowed per parcel. 

4. Marijuana cultivation areas in a structure shall not be accessible to persons under 18 years of age. 

Cultivation areas shall be secured by lock and key or other security device which prevents unauthorized 

entry. 

5. Indoor cultivation of marijuana shall not exceed 25 square feet, regardless of how many qualified 

patients, persons with identification cards, or primary caregivers are residing at the premises, unless the 

Chief of Police or his or her or designee has approved a request under subsection (D) of this section. 

6. Marijuana cultivation lighting shall not exceed 1,200 watts and shall be shielded to confine light and 

glare to the interior of the allowable structure.  All lighting use in the cultivation of marijuana shall comply 

with the California Building, Electrical and Fire Codes as adopted by the city.   

7. The use of gas products (CO2, butane, etc.) or generators for marijuana cultivation or processing is 

prohibited. 

8. Marijuana cultivation for sale is prohibited. 

9. From a public right-of-way, there shall be no exterior evidence of marijuana cultivation. 

10. The residence shall be occupied and is required to maintain a functioning kitchen and bathroom(s), 

and the use of primary bedrooms are for their intended purpose. These rooms shall not be used for 

marijuana cultivation. 

113



11. Any marijuana cultivation area located within a residence shall not create a humidity or mold problem 

in violation of Nevada City building and state health and safety codes. 

12. Any structure used for the cultivation of medical marijuana must have proper ventilation to prevent 

mold damage and to prevent marijuana plant odors or particles from becoming a public nuisance to 

surrounding properties or the public. A public nuisance may be deemed to exist if the cultivation 

produces odors which are disturbing to people of normal sensitivity residing or present on adjacent or 

nearby property or areas open to the public. 

13. The marijuana cultivation area shall not adversely affect the health or safety of the nearby residents 

by creating dust, glare, heat, noise, smoke, traffic, vibration, or other impacts, and shall not be 

hazardous due to use or storage of materials, processes, products or wastes. 

14. Use, storage, or discharge into City wastewater facilities of any hazardous chemicals in the 

cultivation of marijuana is strictly prohibited.  “Hazardous chemicals” shall include, but is not limited to, 

any chemical or substance that is prohibited by the Federal Environmental Protection Agency or the 

California Department of Food and Agriculture.   

15. Water usage for cultivation of marijuana under this Chapter shall not exceed any limitations imposed 

by federal, state, or local water restrictions.   

16. The marijuana grower shall pay any applicable city taxes relating to marijuana. 

17.  Marijuana cultivation may not occur within 600 feet of a school, childcare center, or City park. The distance 

specified in this section shall be the horizontal distance measured in a straight line from the property line 

of the school, childcare center, or City park to the closest property line of the lot on which the marijuana 

cultivation is to be located without regard to intervening structures. 

 

D. Indoor Marijuana Cultivation in Excess of 25 Square Feet. Any proposed marijuana cultivation by an individual that 

may exceed the cultivation area standard maximum of 25 square feet per residence shall require administrative review 

by the Chief of Police or his or her designee, and shall meet the criteria set forth above, as well as the additional criteria 

set forth in subsections (D)(1) through (3) of this section: 

1. Documentation of medical need, such as a physician’s recommendation; and 

2. Inspection of the cultivation area by the chief of police or his or her designee to confirm that no health 

or safety concerns are present; and 

3. The chief of police or his or her designee may require additional specific standards to meet the 

California Building Code and Fire Code, including, but not limited to, installation of fire suppression 

sprinklers.  

114



17.140.045 Cultivation permit. 

A. Prior to commencing any indoor medical marijuana cultivation, a qualified patient, person with an identification card, 

or primary caregiver must obtain a medical marijuana cultivation permit from the Chief of Police or his or her designee. 

The form of permit application and renewal application shall be developed by the Chief of Police or his or her designee, 

shall be completed by the applicant, signed and notarized by the applicant, and shall contain the following information:  

1. The name of each person owning, leasing, occupying, or having charge of any legal parcel or 

premises where medical marijuana will be cultivated. 

2.  When the applicant is not the sole owner of the property, the written permission of the owner’s 

consent to allow marijuana cultivation to occur on the premise with the owner’s notarized signature. 

3. The name of each qualified patient, person with an identification card, or primary caregiver who 

participates in the medical marijuana cultivation. 

4. A copy of a current valid medical recommendation for each qualified patient identified as required 

above, or county-issued medical marijuana card  for each person with an identification card, or if the 

applicant is a primary caregiver, then a copy of a current valid medical recommendation for any qualified 

patient of the primary caregiver  or county-issued medical marijuana card for each person with an 

identification card that the primary caregiver is responsible for. 

5. The physical site address of where the medical marijuana will be cultivated. 

6. A signed consent form, acceptable to the city, authorizing city staff, including the Chief of Police  or his 

or her designee, to conduct a quarterly inspection of the detached, fully enclosed and secure structure or 

area of the residence used for the cultivation of marijuana upon 24 hours’ notice. 

B. The initial permit shall be valid for one year and each renewal permit shall be valid for one year.   

C. To the extent permitted by law, any personal or medical information submitted with a medical marijuana cultivation 

permit application or permit extension shall be kept confidential and shall only be used for purposes of administering 

this chapter. 

D. The Chief of Police, or his or her designee, may, in his or her discretion, deny any application for a medical 

marijuana cultivation permit, or extension thereof, where he or she finds, based on articulated facts, that the issuance of 

such permit, or extension thereof, would be detrimental to the public health, safety, or welfare. A prior criminal 

conviction for a drug-related offense by the permit applicant shall be grounds for denial. The Chief of Police shall deny 

an application for a medical marijuana cultivation permit, or extension thereof, that does not demonstrate satisfaction of 

the minimum requirements of this chapter. Such denial shall be given to the applicant in writing and shall describe the 

grounds for the denial. 

115



E. A person who is denied a marijuana cultivation permit under this section may appeal such denial to the Planning 

Commission within 10 days of the date the Chief of Police issues the written denial required by subsection (D) of this 

section. 

F. Upon timely request by the person requesting the marijuana cultivation permit, the appeal hearing process and 

related procedures of a denial of its permit pursuant to this section shall proceed pursuant to the provisions of Section 

17.88.050 of this Title. 

G. The Chief of Police or his or her designee may charge a fee or fees required to be paid upon filing of an application 

for permit(s) set by resolution of the City Council, which fees shall not exceed the reasonable cost of administering this 

chapter.  

H. Permittees shall comply with all state laws, guidelines, and license requirements applicable to marijuana cultivation 

including those set forth and promulgated under the Medical Marijuana Regulation and Safety Act.  Failure to comply 

with any state law, regulations, or license requirement pertaining to marijuana cultivation shall be grounds for City 

permit revocation.  Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to allow a permittee to cultivate marijuana within the City 

of Nevada City in violation of state law.   

17.140.050 Public nuisance. 

It is hereby declared to be unlawful for any person owning, leasing, occupying, or having charge or possession of any 

parcel within the city of Nevada City to create a public nuisance in the course of cultivating marijuana plants or any part 

thereof. A public nuisance may be deemed to exist if such activity produces: 

A. Odors which are disturbing to people of normal sensitivity residing or present on adjacent or nearby property or areas 

open to the public; 

B. Repeated responses (more than three times in a one-year time period) to the parcel from law enforcement officers; 

C. Repeated disruption (more than three times in a one-year time period) to the free passage of persons or vehicles in 

the neighborhood; 

D. Excessive noise in violation of applicable city noise standards in the general plan or municipal code; 

E. Any other impacts on the neighborhood which are disruptive of normal activity in the area.  

17.140.055 Sale of marijuana prohibited. 

It shall be unlawful for any person cultivating marijuana pursuant to this chapter to sell or offer for sale the marijuana 

permitted to be grown under this chapter.  

17.140.060 Enforcement. 

116



A. Any violation of this chapter is hereby declared to be a public nuisance.  

B. A violation of this chapter may be abated by the city attorney, or other counsel retained by the City, by the 

prosecution of a civil action for injunctive relief and/or by the abatement procedure set forth in Chapter 8.04.  

C. The Chief of Police, or his or her designee (hereafter the “enforcement official”), is hereby authorized to order the 

abatement of any violation of this chapter by following the abatement procedure as defined in Chapter 8.04. In addition, 

the enforcement official may require any person owning, leasing, occupying, or having charge or possession of any 

parcel or property to personally abate and/or remove all medical marijuana plants and improvements to the parcel 

and/or property that exceed the limits set by this chapter. 

D. The remedies provided herein are cumulative, alternative and nonexclusive. The use of one does not prevent the use 

of any others, including Chapter 8.04, and none of these remedies prevents the city from using any other remedy at law 

or in equity which may be available to enforce this chapter or to abate a public nuisance.  

 
SECTION 3:  Any provision of the Nevada City Municipal Code or appendices thereto 
inconsistent with the provisions of this Ordinance, to the extent of such inconsistencies and no 
further, is hereby repealed or modified to that extent necessary to effect the provisions of this 
Ordinance. 
 
SECTION 4:  Should any provision of this Ordinance, or its application to any person or 
circumstance, be determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unlawful, unenforceable 
or otherwise void, that determination shall have no effect on any other provision of this 
Ordinance or the application of this Ordinance to any other person or circumstance and, to that 
end, the provisions hereof are severable. The City Council of the City of Nevada City declares 
that it would have adopted all the provisions of this ordinance that remain valid if any 
provisions of this ordinance are declared invalid. 
 
SECTION 5:  The Mayor shall sign and the City Clerk shall certify to the passage and adoption 
of this Ordinance and shall cause the same to be published and posted pursuant to the 
provisions of law in that regard and this Ordinance shall take effect 30 days after its final 
passage. 
 

APPROVED FOR INTRODUCTION AT A REGULAR MEETING on the ____ day of 
_________, 2016, by the following vote: 
 

AYES: COUNCIL MEMBERS:   
NOES: COUNCIL MEMBERS:   
ABSENT: COUNCIL MEMBERS:   

  
PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED this _____th day of __________, 2016, by the 

following vote: 
 

AYES:     
NOES:  
ABSTAIN:   
ABSENT:    

117

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/RanchoCordova16/RanchoCordova1618.html#16.18
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/RanchoCordova16/RanchoCordova1618.html#16.18


 
 

_____________________________ 
       Jennifer Ray, Mayor 

 
 
 
 

ATTEST:        
 
 
 
_____________________________   
Neil Locke, City Clerk      
 
 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA ) 
COUNTY OF ________  ) ss. 
CITY  OF ____________ ) 
 
 
I, ___________, City Clerk of _______________, do hereby certify that the foregoing 
ordinance was introduced on the ______th day of ____________, 2015, was regularly adopted 
at a meeting thereof on the ____th day of __________, 2015 and was published/posted 
pursuant to law. 
 
 

_____________________________ 
_______________, City Clerk 

118



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL    City of Nevada City 

         317 Broad Street 
         Nevada City, CA  95959 

January 13, 2015      www.nevadacityca.gov 
 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

TITLE:  Transaction and Use Tax Options and Election Timing 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Hold a public hearing on both the proposed General Tax 
ordinance and the proposed Special Tax ordinance and either 1) hold a first reading of 
the General Tax ordinance or the Special Tax ordinance to preserve the ability to adopt 
in time for the June 7, 2016 election; or 2) provide alternate direction to the City Manager. 
 
CONTACT:  Mark Prestwich, City Manager 
 
BACKGROUND: On January 22, 2015, the City Council unanimously adopted a long-
term funding strategy to place a transactions and use tax (sales tax) measure on the June 
7, 2016 ballot. This decision was made after the City received notice from the Nevada 
County Consolidated Fire District that they were ending an 11-year co-staffing 
relationship. Consolidated Fire District’s subsequent removal of three firefighters from 
Nevada City’s Fire Station 54 on Providence Mine Road on April 19, 2015 added a new 
annual operational cost of $275,000 to the City’s General Fund. 
 
DISCUSSION: On October 28, 2015, the City Council provided direction to Staff to 
prepare an Ordinance, subject to voter approval, extending the existing 3/8 cent 
Transactions and Use Tax for general purposes. The annual projected revenue of 
$432,000 would provide the City the availability to continue addressing its citywide 
operational, capital and maintenance needs, and prevent a deteroriation in service levels. 
The proposed ordinance requires a 4/5 vote in order to be placed on the ballot and 
majority voter support. A copy of the draft Ordinance is attached to this report. 
 
Since this direction, City staff has received some citizen feedback that the City should 
alternatively consider a Special Tax and that such a tax should also include resources for 
the Police Department. A 3/8 cent Transaction and Use Special Tax for fire and police 
would provide the needed sustainable funding for three replacement firefighters as well 
as a new dedicated 40-hour per week walking “foot-beat” Police Officer in the downtown 
for crime prevention.  

 
While the City’s sales tax rate would increase temporarily by 3/8 cent for less than 18 
months (from 8.5% to 8.875%), the rate would be reduced by a corresponding 3/8 cent 
when the City’s temporary Measure L tax expired March 31, 2018. Special tax measures 
require 2/3 voter approval and a 4/5 City Council vote to be placed on an election ballot. 
 
General vs. Special Tax 
The challenges with the Fire Department involves a long-term shortfall that requires a 
sustainable revenue source on an ongoing basis. The City is currently utilizing temporary 
Measure L funds that could suffice if the sunset provision were removed on the City’s 

119

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


existing Measure L general tax, leaving approximately $150,000 annually to address 
recurring one-time needs of the City. Alternatively, a special tax for fire and police could 
provide the necessary funding to keep Fire Station 54 open and enhance Police services. 
The passage of a special tax ordinance in June 2016 would free up Measure L funds that 
have been used to pay for replacement firefighters. 
 
Election Timing 
There are several issues to consider regarding a June vs. November 2016 election date: 
 

 Both the June and November elections will likely include large voter turnout. For 
example, the June 2016 election is the City’s Municipal Election involving three 
City Council seats, a Presidential Primary involving no incumbent President, and 
will include a Business License Tax Simplification Measure and a short-term rental 
initiative. The November election is a Presidential Election which historically draws 
large voter turnout. 
 

 Passage of a Special Tax measure in June (vs. November) provides the resources 
to restore an administrative position in City Hall earlier that has been vacant since 
the Consolidated Fire District removed their three firefighters (the vacant position 
is paying for one of the three limited-term firefighter positions currently). The 
vacancy has resulted in significant workload impacts on the 
Administrative/Finance Department which provides human resources, risk 
management, finance and customer service functions with only three staff 
currently. 
 

 The City was fortunate to hire three limited-term firefighters through June 2016 that 
tested at the top of their class. Council action will be necessary to extend the 
limited-term positions to November 2016 at a cost of appoximately $65,000 if that 
is the preferred election date. 

 
Staff has prepared General Tax and Special Tax ordinances for a June 7, 2016 ballot and 
is recommending the City Council hold a public hearing and first reading of either 
ordinance, or provide alternate direction to the City Manager (e.g. prepare an ordinance 
for the November election and return with a draft for review and public hearing at the 
subsequent Council meeting).  
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS: Not applicable. 
 
FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS:  California state law authorizes cities to seek voter 
approval of transaction and use taxes in multiples of 0.125 percent so long as the 
combined transaction and use taxes do not exceed two percent. Special tax revenues 
must be used for purposes specified in an ordinance. General Purpose sales tax 
revenues may be used for any General Fund purpose including Fire, Police, Parks and 
routine maintenance requirements. An extension of the City’s existing 3/8 cent General 
sales tax would provide approximately $432,000 annually, as would a 3/8 cent Special 
Tax. It is estimated that non-City residents generate more than 60% of Nevada City sales 
tax revenues.  
 

120



ATTACHMENTS:   
 General Tax Draft Ordinance  
 Special Tax Draft Ordinance  

 

121



1 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2016-XX 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY EXTENDING 

THE 3/8 OF 1% TRANSACTIONS AND USE TAX FOR GENERAL PURPOSES TO 

CONTINUE TO BE ADMINISTERED BY THE STATE BOARD OF EQUALIZATION 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to California Revenue and Taxation Code Sections 7285.9, the City of 

Nevada City (the "City") has the authority to levy a Transactions and Use Tax for general 

purposes; 

WHEREAS, a majority of the voters of the City approved a three-eighths cent per one dollar 

(0.375%) Transactions and Use Tax at an election held on November 6, 2012; 

WHEREAS, the City's Transactions and Use Tax Ordinance is found in Chapter 3.52 of Title 3 

of the City's Municipal Code; 

 

WHEREAS, Section 3.52.160 of Chapter 3.52 sets forth a "Termination Date" of  five (5) years 

after its operative date, at which time Chapter 3.52 will be repealed unless an amendment is 

approved by the voters of the City at an election called for that purpose; and 

 

WHEREAS, an amendment of the City's Transactions and Use Tax will be submitted to the 

voters to delete the sunset provision of Section 3.52.160 and thus extend the "Termination Date" 

of Chapter 3.52 indefinitely. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY DOES 

HEREBY ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS:  

Section 1.  Amendment.  Section 3.52.160 of Chapter 3.52 of Title 3 of the City's Municipal 

Code providing that the tax shall expire five (5) years after its operative date is hereby repealed. 

Section 2. Approval by the Voters. This Ordinance shall be submitted to the voters at the 

general municipal election to be held on June 7, 2016.  Upon approval by a majority of the voters 

of the City voting on this Ordinance, the Transactions and Use Tax set forth in Chapter 3.26 of 

the City's Municipal Code shall be re-authorized and extended indefinitely.  

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regularly scheduled meeting by the City Council of the City of 

Nevada City this_________ day of ______________, 2015, by a two-thirds vote of the City 

Council, by the following vote:  

 

AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSTAIN/ABSENT: 

   

                                                                            Jennifer Ray, Mayor 

 

 

Attest:   

 Niel Locke, City Clerk 

 
122



 1 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2016-XX 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY 

IMPOSING A TRANSACTIONS AND USE TAX TO BE 

ADMINISTERED BY THE STATE BOARD OF EQUALIZATION 

 

THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY DOES ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

 

 

 Section 1. TITLE.  This ordinance shall be known as the Nevada City Fire and Police  

Transactions and Use Tax Ordinance.  The city of Nevada City hereinafter shall be called "City."  

This ordinance shall be applicable in the incorporated territory of the City. 

 

 Section 2. OPERATIVE DATE.  "Operative Date" means the first day of the first calendar 

quarter commencing more than 110 days after the adoption of this ordinance, the date of such 

adoption being as set forth below. 

 

 Section 3. PURPOSE.  This ordinance is adopted to achieve the following, among other 

purposes, and directs that the provisions hereof be interpreted in order to accomplish those 

purposes: 

 

 A. To impose a retail transactions and use tax in accordance with the provisions of Part 1.6 

(commencing with Section 7251) of Division 2 of the Revenue and Taxation Code and Section 

7285.91 of Part 1.7 of Division 2 which authorizes the City to adopt this tax ordinance which 

shall be operative if two-thirds of the electors voting on the measure vote to approve the 

imposition of the tax at an election called for that purpose. 

 

 B. To adopt a retail transactions and use tax ordinance that incorporates provisions 

identical to those of the Sales and Use Tax Law of the State of California insofar as those 

provisions are not inconsistent with the requirements and limitations contained in Part 1.6 of 

Division 2 of the Revenue and Taxation Code. 

 

 C. To adopt a retail transactions and use tax ordinance that imposes a tax and provides a 

measure therefore that can be administered and collected by the State Board of Equalization in a 

manner that adapts itself as fully as practicable to, and requires the least possible deviation from, 

the existing statutory and administrative procedures followed by the State Board of Equalization 

in administering and collecting the California State Sales and Use Taxes. 

 

 D. To adopt a retail transactions and use tax ordinance that can be administered in a 

manner that will be, to the greatest degree possible, consistent with the provisions of Part 1.6 of 

Division 2 of the Revenue and Taxation Code, minimize the cost of collecting the transactions 

and use taxes, and at the same time, minimize the burden of record keeping upon persons subject 

to taxation under the provisions of this ordinance. 

 

123



 2 

 

 

 Section 4. CONTRACT WITH STATE.  Prior to the operative date, the City shall contract 

with the State Board of Equalization to perform all functions incident to the administration and 

operation of this transactions and use tax ordinance; provided, that if the City shall not have 

contracted with the State Board of Equalization prior to the operative date, it shall nevertheless 

so contract and in such a case the operative date shall be the first day of the first calendar quarter 

following the execution of such a contract. 

 

 Section 5. TRANSACTIONS TAX RATE.  For the privilege of selling tangible personal 

property at retail, a tax is hereby imposed upon all retailers in the incorporated territory of the 

City at the rate of 3/8 of 1% of the gross receipts of any retailer from the sale of all tangible 

personal property sold at retail in said territory on and after the operative date of this ordinance. 

 

 Section 6. PLACE OF SALE.  For the purposes of this ordinance, all retail sales are 

consummated at the place of business of the retailer unless the tangible personal property sold is 

delivered by the retailer or his agent to an out-of-state destination or to a common carrier for 

delivery to an out-of-state destination.  The gross receipts from such sales shall include delivery 

charges, when such charges are subject to the state sales and use tax, regardless of the place to 

which delivery is made.  In the event a retailer has no permanent place of business in the State or 

has more than one place of business, the place or places at which the retail sales are 

consummated shall be determined under rules and regulations to be prescribed and adopted by 

the State Board of Equalization. 

 

 Section 7.  USE TAX RATE.  An excise tax is hereby imposed on the storage, use or other 

consumption in the City of tangible personal property purchased from any retailer on and after 

the operative date of this ordinance for storage, use or other consumption in said territory at the 

rate of 3/8 of 1% of the sales price of the property.  The sales price shall include delivery charges 

when such charges are subject to state sales or use tax regardless of the place to which delivery is 

made. 

 

 Section 8. ADOPTION OF PROVISIONS OF STATE LAW.  Except as otherwise 

provided in this ordinance and except insofar as they are inconsistent with the provisions of Part 

1.6 of Division 2 of the Revenue and Taxation Code, all of the provisions of Part 1 (commencing 

with Section 6001) of Division 2 of the Revenue and Taxation Code are hereby adopted and 

made a part of this ordinance as though fully set forth herein. 

 

 Section 9. LIMITATIONS ON ADOPTION OF STATE LAW AND COLLECTION OF 

USE TAXES.  In adopting the provisions of Part 1 of Division 2 of the Revenue and Taxation 

Code: 

 

  A. Wherever the State of California is named or referred to as the taxing agency, 

the name of this City shall be substituted therefor.  However, the substitution shall not be made 

when: 

 

 

124



 3 

 

   1.  The word "State" is used as a part of the title of the State Controller, State 

Treasurer, State Board of Control, State Board of Equalization, State Treasury, or the 

Constitution of the State of California; 

 

   2.  The result of that substitution would require action to be taken by or against 

this City or any agency, officer, or employee thereof rather than by or against the State Board of 

Equalization, in performing the functions incident to the administration or operation of this 

Ordinance. 

 

   3.  In those sections, including, but not necessarily limited to sections referring 

to the exterior boundaries of the State of California, where the result of the substitution would be 

to: 

 

    a.  Provide an exemption from this tax with respect to certain sales, storage, 

use or other consumption of tangible personal property which would not otherwise be exempt 

from this tax while such sales, storage, use or other consumption remain subject to tax by the 

State under the provisions of Part 1 of Division 2 of the Revenue and Taxation Code, or; 

 

    b.  Impose this tax with respect to certain sales, storage, use or other 

consumption of tangible personal property which would not be subject to tax by the state under 

the said provision of that code. 

 

   4. In Sections 6701, 6702 (except in the last sentence thereof), 6711, 6715, 

6737, 6797 or 6828 of the Revenue and Taxation Code. 

 

  B. The word "City" shall be substituted for the word "State" in the phrase "retailer 

engaged in business in this State" in Section 6203 and in the definition of that phrase in Section 

6203. 

 

 Section 10. PERMIT NOT REQUIRED.  If a seller's permit has been issued to a retailer 

under Section 6067 of the Revenue and Taxation Code, an additional transactor's permit shall not 

be required by this ordinance. 

 

 Section 11. EXEMPTIONS AND EXCLUSIONS.   

 

  A. There shall be excluded from the measure of the transactions tax and the use tax 

the amount of any sales tax or use tax imposed by the State of California or by any city, city and 

county, or county pursuant to the Bradley-Burns Uniform Local Sales and Use Tax Law or the 

amount of any state-administered transactions or use tax. 

 

  B. There are exempted from the computation of the amount of transactions tax the 

gross receipts from: 

 

   1. Sales of tangible personal property, other than fuel or petroleum products, to 

operators of aircraft to be used or consumed principally outside the county in which the sale is 

made and directly and exclusively in the use of such aircraft as common carriers of persons or 

property under the authority of the laws of this State, the United States, or any foreign 

government. 

 

125



 4 

 

   2. Sales of property to be used outside the City which is shipped to a point 

outside the City, pursuant to the contract of sale, by delivery to such point by the retailer or his 

agent, or by delivery by the retailer to a carrier for shipment to a consignee at such point.  For the 

purposes of this paragraph, delivery to a point outside the City shall be satisfied: 

 

    a. With respect to vehicles (other than commercial vehicles) subject to 

registration pursuant to Chapter 1 (commencing with Section 4000) of Division 3 of the Vehicle 

Code, aircraft licensed in compliance with Section 21411 of the Public Utilities Code, and 

undocumented vessels registered under Division 3.5 (commencing with Section 9840) of the 

Vehicle Code by registration to an out-of-City address and by a declaration under penalty of 

perjury, signed by the buyer, stating that such address is, in fact, his or her principal place of 

residence; and 

 

    b. With respect to commercial vehicles, by registration to a place of 

business out-of-City and declaration under penalty of perjury, signed by the buyer, that the 

vehicle will be operated from that address. 

 

   3. The sale of tangible personal property if the seller is obligated to furnish the 

property for a fixed price pursuant to a contract entered into prior to the operative date of this 

ordinance. 

 

   4. A lease of tangible personal property which is a continuing sale of such 

property, for any period of time for which the lessor is obligated to lease the property for an 

amount fixed by the lease prior to the operative date of this ordinance. 

 

   5. For the purposes of subparagraphs (3) and (4) of this section, the sale or 

lease of tangible personal property shall be deemed not to be obligated pursuant to a contract or 

lease for any period of time for which any party to the contract or lease has the unconditional 

right to terminate the contract or lease upon notice, whether or not such right is exercised. 

 

  C. There are exempted from the use tax imposed by this ordinance, the storage, use 

or other consumption in this City of tangible personal property: 

 

   1. The gross receipts from the sale of which have been subject to a transactions 

tax under any state-administered transactions and use tax ordinance. 

 

   2. Other than fuel or petroleum products purchased by operators of aircraft and 

used or consumed by such operators directly and exclusively in the use of such aircraft as 

common carriers of persons or property for hire or compensation under a certificate of public 

convenience and necessity issued pursuant to the laws of this State, the United States, or any 

foreign government.  This exemption is in addition to the exemptions provided in Sections 6366 

and 6366.1 of the Revenue and Taxation Code of the State of California. 

 

 

126



 5 

 

 

   3. If the purchaser is obligated to purchase the property for a fixed price 

pursuant to a contract entered into prior to the operative date of this ordinance. 

 

   4. If the possession of, or the exercise of any right or power over, the tangible 

personal property arises under a lease which is a continuing purchase of such property for any 

period of time for which the lessee is obligated to lease the property for an amount fixed by a 

lease prior to the operative date of this ordinance. 

 

   5. For the purposes of subparagraphs (3) and (4) of this section, storage, use, or 

other consumption, or possession of, or exercise of any right or power over, tangible personal 

property shall be deemed not to be obligated pursuant to a contract or lease for any period of time 

for which any party to the contract or lease has the unconditional right to terminate the contract 

or lease upon notice, whether or not such right is exercised. 

 

   6. Except as provided in subparagraph (7), a retailer engaged in business in the 

City shall not be required to collect use tax from the purchaser of tangible personal property, 

unless the retailer ships or delivers the property into the City or participates within the City in 

making the sale of the property, including, but not limited to, soliciting or receiving the order, 

either directly or indirectly, at a place of business of the retailer in the City or through any 

representative, agent, canvasser, solicitor, subsidiary, or person in the City under the authority of 

the retailer. 

 

   7. "A retailer engaged in business in the City" shall also include any retailer of 

any of the following:  vehicles subject to registration pursuant to Chapter 1 (commencing with 

Section 4000) of Division 3 of the Vehicle Code, aircraft licensed in compliance with Section 

21411 of the Public Utilities Code, or undocumented vessels registered under Division 3.5 

(commencing with Section 9840) of the Vehicle Code.  That retailer shall be required to collect 

use tax from any purchaser who registers or licenses the vehicle, vessel, or aircraft at an address 

in the City. 

 

  D. Any person subject to use tax under this ordinance may credit against that tax 

any transactions tax or reimbursement for transactions tax paid to a district imposing, or retailer 

liable for a transactions tax pursuant to Part 1.6 of Division 2 of the Revenue and Taxation Code 

with respect to the sale to the person of the property the storage, use or other consumption of 

which is subject to the use tax. 

 

 Section 12. AMENDMENTS. All amendments subsequent to the effective date of this 

ordinance to Part 1 of Division 2 of the Revenue and Taxation Code relating to sales and use 

taxes and which are not inconsistent with Part 1.6 and Part 1.7 of Division 2 of the Revenue and 

Taxation Code, and all amendments to Part 1.6 and Part 1.7 of Division 2 of the Revenue and 

Taxation Code, shall automatically become a part of this ordinance, provided however, that no 

such amendment shall operate so as to affect the rate of tax imposed by this ordinance. 

 

 

 

127



 6 

 

 

 

 Section 13. ENJOINING COLLECTION FORBIDDEN. No injunction or writ of 

mandate or other legal or equitable process shall issue in any suit, action or proceeding in any 

court against the State or the City, or against any officer of the State or the City, to prevent or 

enjoin the collection under this ordinance, or Part 1.6 of Division 2 of the Revenue and Taxation 

Code, of any tax or any amount of tax required to be collected. 

 

 Section 14. CITIZENS OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE.  Although not otherwise required by 

law, the city council shall, by resolution adopted before the operative date of this ordinance, 

establish a citizens oversight committee to review the revenue and expenditure of funds from the 

tax adopted by this ordinance.  The members’ terms and qualifications, and duties and scope of 

the committee, shall be as established by the resolution. 

 

 Section 15.  INDEPENDENT ANNUAL AUDIT. The proceeds resulting from this 

transactions and use tax shall be accounted for in a special fund and become subject to the same 

independent annual audit requirements as other general fund revenue. The independent auditor’s 

report, which shall include an accounting of the revenues received and expenditures made from 

the transactions and use tax, will be presented annually to the City Council and made available 

for public review. 

 

 Section 16. SEVERABILITY. If any provision of this ordinance or the application thereof 

to any person or circumstance is held invalid, the remainder of the ordinance and the application 

of such provision to other persons or circumstances shall not be affected thereby. 

 

 Section 17. EFFECTIVE DATE. This ordinance relates to the levying and collecting 

of the City transactions and use taxes and shall take effect immediately. 

 

 Section 18. TERMINATION DATE. The authority to levy the tax imposed by this 

ordinance shall continue indefinitely until terminated by a majority of the voters at a regularly 

scheduled municipal election. 

 

      Section 19.  The following measure shall be placed on the ballot for the general election to be 

held on June 7, 2016, and the measure shall read as follows: 

 

To ensure Nevada City’s Fire Station No. 54 remains operational, continues to provide essential 

emergency and medical response services to the community, and maintains current emergency 

response times, and to fund one extra Police Officer dedicated to Historic District patrol and 

crime prevention services, shall the City of Nevada City enact a three-eighths cent per one dollar 

transactions and use tax with all funds to be spent locally, and subject to annual audit and citizen 

oversight?  

      _______YES       _______No 

 

 Section 20.  All of the funds generated from this revenue source shall be restricted to use 

exclusively for fire and police protection purposes: including the operation, maintenance, and 

improvement of fire and police facilities within the City; maintenance, replacement, and 

upgrading of fire and police equipment; staffing and training of fire and police personnel and 

support staff; and expenditures necessary to support mutual aid from and to like agencies in other 

jurisdictions in time of need, and for no other purpose.  It is intended that the revenues generated 

128



 7 

will provide the resources for Nevada City to maintain and operate its own municipal fire and 

police department to adequately provide for public safety for its residents and to participate in 

mutual aid arrangements with like agencies.  These expenses are real and ongoing rather than 

one-time expenditures that could be satisfied within a set period of time, so that collection of this 

tax shall be ongoing, with no term or sunset provision, without any need to resubmit it to the 

voters, but subject to termination by a majority of the voters at a future regular municipal election 

called that purpose.  An Expenditure Plan has been prepared by the Nevada City Fire and Police 

Departments reflecting existing and anticipated expenditures currently know to be necessary to 

provide effective fire and police protection purposes now and when the existing general tax 

sunsets in 2018 and the funds raised by this ordinance will be expended in accordance with that 

plan.  The Expenditure Plan is attached hereto and incorporated herein. 

 

      PUBLICATION:  The City of Nevada city shall publish this Ordinance in The Union, a 

newspaper of general circulation, within 15 days of the date of its passage 

 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED  at a regularly scheduled meeting of the City Council of the city 

of Nevada City , State of California, on _____________________, 2016, by the following vote: 

 

  AYES: 

 

  NOES: 

 

  ABSENT: 

 

   

 Jennifer Ray, Mayor 

 

Attest:   
 Niel Locke, City Clerk 
 

I, Niel Locke, duly deputized City Clerk of the City of Nevada City, California, do hereby certify 

that the above is a true and correct copy of Ordinance No. 2016-XX duly passed and adopted by 

the City council of the City of Nevada City on the ____ day of ______________, 2016.  

 

  _____________________ 

Niel Locke, City Clerk 
  

 

 

 

 
ord_City 

(rev 05/04) 

129



 8 

 

 

City of Nevada City Expenditure Plan of Anticipated Three-Eight (3/8) Cent Sales Tax 

Revenue 

 

The City requires a sustainable funding source to fund three permanent firefighter positions to 

address a staffing shortfall that occurred in April 2015 when the Nevada County Consolidated 

Fire District removed three firefighters from the formerly co-staffed City Fire Station No. 54 on 

Providence Mine Road. The City also desires to increase sworn Police staffing to include 

sustainable funding for a new full-time Police Officer dedicated to foot patrol and crime 

prevention in the Historic District. Remaining resources shall be allocated for Police and Fire 

equipment, training and facility maintenance and other eligible expenses.   

 

The City estimates the sales tax will provide annual revenues of approximately $432,000 in fiscal 

year 2016/17.  

 

Expenditure Plan for a Typical Year* 

 

Three (3) Firefighters       $ 275,000 

 

One (1) Police Foot Patrol Officer        120,000 

 

Police/Fire Equipment, Training & Facility Maintenance      37,000 

 

TOTAL          $ 432,000 

 

* Revenue and expenditure figures will adjust annually due to inflation and performance 

 

130



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL    City of Nevada City 

         317 Broad Street 
         Nevada City, CA  95959 

January 13, 2015      www.nevadacityca.gov 
 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

TITLE:  Placement of Council-Requested Items on City Council Agendas 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Discuss and provide direction to the City Manager. 
 
CONTACT:  Mark Prestwich, City Manager 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:  The City of Nevada City does not have a written policy 
related to how Council Members request items be placed on City Council agendas. With 
some exceptions, the City’s practice has generally consisted of City Council requests 
being made during Council meetings. The City’s agenda format facilitates this practice by 
inclusion of a recurring agenda item titled “Council Members Requested Items and 
Committee Reports” where Council Members may request items be brought forward in 
the future for discussion. Additionally, the City’s annual strategic planning process has 
provided an opportunity for City Council Members to identify policy issues, projects and 
goals that routinely result in placement of items on future Council agendas. 
 
On August 26, the City Council discussed expectations regarding how Council Members 
request agenda topics be submitted to the City Manager for placement on a future City 
Council agenda. While not unanimous, there was a general preference that City Council 
Members preferred to have the flexibility to request items be placed on a future City 
Council agenda via email or telephone between meetings, but that they expected the City 
Manager to have some discretion on timing. On November 18, Vice Mayor Phelps 
requested the issue be brought back for discussion with the City Council for further 
clarification.  
 
The following options were developed for the August 26 City Council discussion and may 
be helpful in facilitating a discussion that further clarifies an approach that works for 
Council Members: 
 

 Option A - Public Session Only. Council Members may submit items for inclusion 
on a future agenda by orally making the request under “Council Members 
Requested Items and Committee Reports” during a public meeting. (Some cities 
require two or three Council Members to agree before the item is agreed to be 
placed on a future agenda and staff time is invested in the issue.)  
 

 Option B - Anytime. Council Members may submit items for inclusion on a 
specified future agenda at any time. (Clarity related to expectations regarding 
supporting agenda materials and whether to provide discretion to the City Manager 
on how to title the subject matter would be needed. If this option is selected, it is 
recommended that consideration be given to limiting requests made outside a 
public meeting to no more than two items per Council Member per meeting.) 

131

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


 

 Option C - City Manager Discretion. If the Council Member requested item is 
submitted less than 21 days prior to a meeting, the City Manager is provided 
discretion on whether to place the item on the next agenda or advise the Council 
at the next meeting of the Council Member request. (Consideration would be given 
to evaluation of staff workload, anticipated length of planned meeting, ability to 
adequately prepare item for a productive public deliberation, or whether another 
approach exists to address/resolve the issue.) 
 

 Option D - Mayor Discretion. Mayor approves individual Council Member agenda 
requests submitted less than 21 days prior to a meeting. 
 

 Option E - Mayor and Vice Mayor or Council Committee approves Council 
Member agenda requests submitted less than 21 days prior to a meeting. 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS: Not applicable. 
 
FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS: None. 
 
ATTACHMENT: None. 
 

132


	1-REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 01.13.2016.pdf
	3A-Fire Activity Report
	3B-AP Nov 2015
	3C-1 - CCStfRpt- Notice of Completion - East Broad Street Reconstruction
	3C-2 - Reso 2016-XX - Authorize Notice of Completion E Broad St Improvements
	3C-3 - Exhibit A - Notice of Completion - East Broad St Reconstruction
	3D-1 - CCStfRpt- Calling for a Municipal Election 2016
	3D-2 - Reso 2016-XX - Calling General Municipal Election June 7. 2016
	3E-1 SR 01-13-16 Standard Caltrans Agreement
	3E-2 Attachment Standard Caltrans Agreement
	3F-1 CCStfRpt- Notice of Completion - Measure S 2015
	3F-2 Reso - 2016-XX - Authorize Notice of Completion Measure S Paving
	3F-3 Exhibit A - Notice of Completion - Measure S 2015
	4A - Minutes - 12.09.15 - Draft
	5A-1 Rep to Coun Reserve Program
	5B-1 stfrpt01-13-16poolrehab (CO)
	5B-2 Pool Engineering Study
	5B-3 poolrehab RESO
	5C-1 SR 01-13-16 1st Quarter Financials
	5C-2 Attachments - 1st Quarter Financial Reports
	6A-1 Ch 17.140 to NCMC Re Marijuana Regulations
	6A-2 Exhibit A - PC Reso NOE Ordinance
	NOTICE OF EXEMPTION

	6A-3 Exhibit B - PC Ordinance
	Chapter 17.140 MARIJUANA REGULATIONS
	17.140.010 Purpose.
	17.140.020 Definitions.
	17.140.030 Outdoor cultivation of marijuana.
	17.140.040 Indoor cultivation of marijuana.
	17.140.045 Cultivation permit.
	17.140.050 Public nuisance.
	17.140.055 Sale of medical marijuana prohibited.
	17.140.060 Enforcement.
	17.140.070 Penalty for violation.


	6A-4 Exhibit C - CC Reso  NOE Marijuana Cultivation Ordinance
	6A-5 Exhibit D - Ordinance with PC recommended changes clean 121115
	6B-1 Transaction and Use Tax Options
	6B-2 General Transaction and Use Tax Ordinance
	6B-3 Special Transactions and Use Tax Ordinance
	7A-1 Council Member Requested Agenda Item Procedure



